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Founded in 1980, ARB is the fastest growing black empowered electrical wholesaler in South 

Africa. The group marked a milestone when it listed on the JSE in November 2007.

Since inception, ARB has built a nationwide branch network across KwaZulu-Natal, Gauteng and the 

Western and Eastern Cape, anchored by a head office in Durban. In its maiden year of listing on the JSE, 

the group continued to achieve strong organic growth and broadened its national footprint by opening a 

new branch in Nelspruit, Mpumalanga. Furthermore, ARB is targeting Africa with new subsidiary ARB 

Global, focused exclusively on building export operations.

ARB offers a wide range of locally manufactured and imported products including power and 

instrumentation cable, conductors, overhead line hardware, insulators, transformers, mini-subs and 

general electrical contracting materials to over 4 500 customers throughout South and sub-Saharan  

Africa. It services five strategic business sectors in these regions:

  Large and Heavy Industry

  Parastatals

   Construction Industry

  Electrical Contractors

 Mining Industry

Group overview

 Successful listing on the JSE in November 2007

 Performance in line with pre-listing forecasts

 Revenue up 28,3% year-on-year

 Headline earnings up 23,7% year-on-year

 Dividend of 13 cents per share

Financial highlights
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Our footprint

Our footprint throughout South and sub-Saharan Africa enables us 

to reach over 4 500 customers.  
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Group structure
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Directorate

Executive directors Non-executive directors

Craig Robertson (40)

BCompt

CEO

William (Billy) Neasham (51)

BCom, CA(SA)

Financial Director

Alan R Burke (54)

Founder and Chairman

Billy, a Chartered Accountant, has 

been involved with the ARB group 

since 1988 as the audit partner and 

professional advisor, firstly with KPMG 

and more recently with Griffith and 

Aitken. Billy joined ARB in June 2000 

as Financial Director and is 

responsible for the high level  

of financial discipline instilled in  

the group.

Alan trained as an apprentice 

electrician, which proved the 

springboard for his involvement into 

the electrical wholesale industry. He 

founded ARB in 1980 in Richards Bay 

and has been the driving force behind 

its success to date. Alan is responsible 

for the strategic direction of the group.

After completion of articles of 

clerkship with David Strachan  

(now PKF Durban), Craig joined ARB  

in March 1992 as the company 

accountant and in May 1993 was 

appointed the Financial Director.  

Craig built a solid understanding  

of the industry and was appointed 

CEO in May 1997. Craig has been  

a significant contributor to the 

geographic expansion and growth  

of the group.



Page 5ARB Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008  I

 

Independent
non-executive director

Jacob Modise (42)

BCom, BAcc, CA(SA), MBA (Wits), 

AMP (Samford), AMP (Harvard)

Dumisani Muhlwa (36)

BCompt, CA(SA)

Simon Downes (49)

BCom, CA(SA), FCMA, MBA (UCT)

Since qualifying as a Chartered 

Accountant with Deloitte & Touche, 

Jacob has held senior financial 

positions with a number of listed 

entities and parastatals, including 

Eskom, Teljoy, JCI and Johnnic 

Holdings Limited. He currently serves 

as a non-executive director on the 

boards of Eskom Holdings Limited, 

Allied Electronics Corporation Limited, 

Blue IQ Holdings Limited, Independent 

Regulatory Board of Auditors (IRBA) 

and the Development Bank of 

Southern Africa. He also serves on the 

Investment Advisory Board of the 

Nelson Mandela Children’s Fund and 

is the CEO of the Road Accident Fund. 

Jacob is the founder and Chairman of 

Batsomi Investment Holdings 

(Proprietary) Limited.

Since qualifying as a Chartered 

Accountant in 1996 with Ernst & 

Young, Dumisani has been involved in 

project and corporate finance and 

private equity. Prior to joining Batsomi, 

he was a senior manager at Sasol 

Limited and was involved in the 

financing of some of Sasol’s major 

capital expenditure programmes and 

various BBBEE funding initiatives. 

Prior to that, Dumisani was Group 

Project Finance Manager at Mobile 

Telephone Network Holdings (“MTN”) 

in charge of raising capital for the 

group’s expansion into the African 

continent. He was also at African 

Merchant Bank where he was involved 

in some of South Africa’s pioneering 

BBBEE transactions. Dumisani is 

currently CEO of the Batsomi Group.

A Chartered Accountant, Simon is the 

CEO and sole shareholder of Shave 

and Gibson Group (Proprietary) 

Limited, an independent manufacturer 

of carton board folding packaging and 

the largest local manufacturer of 

cheques and other security printed 

products. He also holds directorships 

in various investment companies.
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Chairman’s report

The group’s performance for the year achieved all key 

financial forecasts set out in the prospectus despite 

significant changes in the economy as compared to the 

material assumptions on which the forecasts were based, 

which at the time of the prospectus included:

– No material change to trading conditions;

– Stable commodity prices;

– Interest rates of 13,5%;

– Current inflation remaining constant at 6%; and

– No unforeseen materials supply shortages or delays.

We have delivered on all our commitments in the 

prospectus, save for an intention to expand through 

acquisition. However, in light of our responsibility to our 

shareholders to pursue only appropriate, value-enhancing 

acquisitions, we believed there were no suitable acquisition 

opportunities at the right price. We remain debt- free at 

year-end, which will carry us through this current period of 

high inflation. We do anticipate that acquisition opportunities 

will improve early in the 2009 calendar year and we will 

continue to pursue those we consider appropriate.

Our medium-term vision is to grow the group through 

a combination of acquisitions in manufacturing and 

wholesaling, both locally and cross-border, to achieve 

turnover in excess of R5 billion within five years.  

We intend to do this while maintaining the ARB ethos  

by instilling it in any acquired businesses.

I am proud to present this, my first statement as Chairman since ARB successfully listed on 

the JSE in November 2007. The listing was a milestone in our development from humble 

beginnings twenty eight years ago and is a testament to a committed and successful team.
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Given the nature of the supply chain and lead times in the 

South African markets, we recognise the need to expand 

our supply base by sourcing imported product in order to 

remain competitive on the African continent. Where 

appropriate expansion into Africa will be facilitated with 

Joint Venture partners in order to capitalise on the 

infrastructure spend required throughout the continent.

I wish to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to:

–  CEO Craig Robertson for his leadership and 

maintenance of a solid platform for the group;

–  my fellow directors and advisors for their continued 

counsel, loyalty and support;

–  the group’s management and staff for their dedicated 

commitment which enabled us to achieve the year’s 

solid performance; and

–  our suppliers and customers, with whom we have 

enjoyed long lasting relationships and who have helped 

make our success possible.

I welcome our new stakeholders who have joined us 

since listing and look forward to continuing to deliver 

value for them.

Alan R Burke

Non-executive Chairman

25 August 2008
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CEO’s report

Investor interest in the group was evident from the 

substantial oversubscription of the pre-listing private 

placement. The R171,4 million capital raised has since 

been used to repay the majority of ARB’s external 

borrowings. The balance funded the launch of our planned 

expansion programme into high-growth regions such as 

Mpumalanga, where we opened a new branch in Nelspruit, 

and supported an increased range and depth of inventory 

at existing operations.

Strong organic growth resulted in a solid performance in 

line with forecasts set out in the prospectus, despite a 

weak economy which reversed the original underlying 

assumptions. Net profit grew 23,7% to R104,1 million. 

This marked the fifth year of more than 20% growth in 

profitability annually. Net profit was also slightly ahead of 

forecast by 3%.

We declared a dividend of 13 cents per share in our 

maiden year as a listed company.

The year marked the most significant milestone yet in our 28 year history when ARB listed 

successfully on the JSE Main Board – in the ‘Electronic and Electrical Equipment’ sector  

– in November 2007. The listing significantly raised the group’s profile, enhancing ARB’s 

capability to capitalise on growth opportunities in the market.
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Financial results
Revenue increased by 28,3% to R1,34 billion from 

R1,05 billion in the previous year. Operating profit grew 

15,7% to R195 million. Headline earnings of 

R104,1 million, 23,7% higher than the previous year, 

translated into headline earnings per share of 47,05 cents 

compared to 42,10 cents in 2007.

Operating margins reduced slightly by 1,6% to 14,5%, as 

anticipated in the prospectus, due largely to planned 

expansion particularly in the Gauteng region where we 

substantially grew market share.

Stock levels increased ahead of forecast in the last quarter 

of the year. This strategy of investment in inventory 

positions ARB to leverage a broadened product range in 

anticipation of high demand and enables the group to 

capitalise on this immediately, unhampered by delivery 

lead times on product.

Further details in respect of the annual financial results are 

set out in the annual financial statements and 

accompanying notes.

Operations
As a leading supplier to the local infrastructure sector, 

ARB is benefiting from unprecedented public sector and 

parastatal spend. Government is expected to accelerate its 

spend commitment to alleviate the historical backlog, while 

Eskom has confirmed it will continue with all planned 

low-cost housing connections for 2008/9. This should drive 

significant growth in sales for ARB with approximately 20% 

of group revenue derived from large contractors supplying 

the infrastructure sector and Eskom, parastatals, major 

industrial groups and electrical contractors making up the 

balance of the customer base. The slowdown in the 

residential development market impacted minimally on 

ARB as only a negligible percentage of revenue is derived 

from this sector.

Our expansion programme during the year included new, 

larger premises in Gauteng which increased contribution 

to group revenue to 35,6%. In addition, a robust market  

in the Cape saw revenue increase by 18,1% from the 

previous year to R192,7 million and spurred the group  

to purchase land for development of bigger premises. 

These are expected to open in February 2009.
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CEO’s report continued

The new branch in Nelspruit began trading in May 2008 

and is showing early signs of success. Our foothold in this 

2010 host city, which is also close to the Kruger Park, will 

expose ARB to the benefits of mining and tourism 

prospects in Mpumalanga.

Collective revenue generated by our enlarged Gauteng 

operation and the new foothold in Mpumalanga increased 

by 82,4% to R478,6 million, reflecting infrastructure 

development in the regions. ARB expects continued strong 

growth in these areas.

The largest contributor to group revenue, our long-

established KwaZulu-Natal operations, accounted for 

R593,9 million of total revenue which reflected 9% growth 

off a high base in the previous year.

Prospects
Looking ahead, ARB will be focusing increasingly on Africa, 

which is expected to be a key driver of growth. Our new 

Nelspruit branch will serve as a springboard into 

Mozambique with its positioning as the economic hub of 

the Maputo Development Corridor. After year-end we 

established ARB Global to focus exclusively on exports into 

the continent. With only a small capital investment required 

for export operations, we are targeting five-fold growth  

in export revenue in the near-term.

In South Africa we anticipate further growth in market 

share as a result of our expanding national footprint, 

particularly in Gauteng, The Cape and Mpumalanga. 

Current stock levels are able to accommodate expansion 

over the medium-term.

Government remains committed to “bring electricity to all” 

by 2014. The regional reticulation programmes in 

KwaZulu-Natal and the Eastern Cape are set to double, 

which will return ARB’s Eastern Cape operations to positive 

growth figures year-on-year. A similar major programme  

is underway in Limpopo which bodes well for our growth  

in the area.

Subsequent to year-end we established a new division, 

ARB Mining, to take advantage of the buoyant mining 

sector in South Africa. ARB is currently undergoing 

accreditation with a number of key mining houses and 

some early signs of success are encouraging.

We also believe current economic conditions will yield 

attractive acquisition opportunities. We are currently 

investigating a number of appropriate acquisitions in 

complementary industries, and will continue to identify and 

evaluate targets.

Appreciation
I thank our management teams and employees for their 

hard work and commitment which contributed to the 

group’s successful listing on the JSE as well as the 

excellent performance for the year. I also thank my fellow 

directors for their counsel and diligence. Finally I extend my 

appreciation to our business partners, advisors, suppliers 

and customers for their ongoing support.

Craig Robertson

CEO

25 August 2008
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 Corporate governance

The directors of ARB acknowledge the importance of sound 

corporate governance and are committed to implementing 

the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct (“the Code”) 

set out in the King II Report. The directors’ primary focus 

during the year was on achieving a successful listing on 

the JSE Main Board. Subsequent to listing on 20 November 

2007, the directors are now able to focus on improving and 

codifying operational and corporate practices to achieve full 

compliance with the Code. Going forward the board will 

monitor compliance to ensure ongoing improvement.

In implementing the Code, the directors recognise the need 

to manage the enterprise with integrity and according to 

generally accepted corporate practices. In doing so they 

seek to identify and mitigate significant risks, promote 

sound decision making and ensure sustainable business 

practices and transparent communication with all 

stakeholders.

The board
In accordance with the King II Report, the board comprises 

a majority of non-executive directors. Four of the six 

directors hold non-executive positions, one of whom is 

independent. The directors are cognisant of the need to 

increase the number of independent directors.

The board is chaired by non-executive director  

Alan R Burke. The name of and a brief curriculum vitae for 

each director are set out on pages 4 and 5 of the annual 

report.The responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO and 

the remaining executive and non-executive directors are 

strictly separated to ensure that no director can exercise 

unfettered powers of decision making.

The Chairman provides leadership and guidance to the 

board and encourages proper deliberation on all matters 

requiring the board’s attention while obtaining input 

from other directors. The CEO and other executive directors 

are responsible for implementing strategy and operational 

decisions in respect of the day-to-day operations, while 

non-executive directors contribute their independent and 

objective knowledge and experience to board deliberations. 

All non-executive directors are sufficiently qualified to 

contribute industry skill and expertise. They have unfettered 

access to management at any time subject to advising 

the CEO. All directors further have access to the external 

auditors.

All directors are entitled, at ARB’s expense, to seek 

independent professional advice on any matters pertaining 

to the group where they deem this to be necessary.

To assist the board in discharging its collective 

responsibilities of corporate governance, an Audit and Risk 

Committee has been established to which certain board 

responsibilities have been delegated.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, directors of 

the company who have been in office for three years retire 

by rotation and their re-appointment will be subject to 

shareholders’ approval. In addition, all new directors are 

subject to election by shareholders at the first Annual 

General Meeting immediately following their initial 

appointment.

The board met twice during the year as ARB only listed on 

the JSE in November 2007. In future the directors will meet 

at least four times a year with ad-hoc meetings convened 

when required. Directors are provided in advance with all 

necessary information to enable them to discharge their 

responsibilities. In addition executive and non-executive 

directors meet informally on a regular basis.

Details of directors’ attendance at board and committee 

meetings during the year are set out on the next page.



Page 12 I  ARB Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008

Corporate governance continued

  Directors Board meetings

Audit and Risk 

Committee meetings

Remuneration  

and Nominations  

Committee meetings
AR Burke (Chairman)*~ 2(2) 1(1)
ST Downes**# 2(2) 2(2) 1(1)
JR Modise* 2(2) 1(2) 1(1)
DF Muhlwa* 2(2) 2(2)
WR Neasham (Financial Director) 2(2) 2(2)*** 1(1)***
CC Robertson (CEO) 2(2) 1(1)***

*Non-executive **Independent non-executive # Audit and Risk Committee Chairman ~Remuneration and Nominations 

Committee Chairman ***by invitation

ARB board charter
The board is regulated by a formal Board Charter, which 

sets out the role of the board and the responsibilities of the 

directors. The comprehensive Charter addresses matters 

relating to board composition, leadership, remuneration 

and evaluation, group processes and procedures, key 

operational risks and corporate governance compliance. 

The Charter provides the board with a mandate to exercise 

leadership, determine the group’s vision and strategy and 

monitor operational performance.

The specific duties and responsibilities of the board as 

codified by the Board Charter include:

•	 Strategy	and	planning	including	budgets;

•	 	Definitions	of	the	required	competencies	as	well	as	

the number and profile of board members, which 

includes reviewing the performance of the CEO, 

senior management and the Company Secretary. 

Executive succession planning also falls within this 

responsibility;

•	 	Remuneration	of	non-executive	directors	and	the	

CEO as well as of senior management members on 

the recommendation of the CEO. All executive 

incentive schemes including share acquisition 

schemes are also considered by the board;

•	 	Capital	management	including	financial	reporting	

and the strategic allocation of capital;

•	 	Performance	monitoring	including	the	setting	of	

relevant financial and non-financial Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs);

•	 Risk	management;

•	 	Audit	and	compliance	including	the	appointment	of	

auditors and definition of the scope of their function. 

This duty further makes the board responsible for 

reviewing the control environment and compliance 

resources, structure and processes; and

•	 	Policies	dealing	with	conflicts	of	interest	and	codes	

of conduct including related-party transactions, 

share trading by directors and employees and 

insider trading. It also includes policies dealing with 

directors’ liabilities, indemnities and insurance.

The Board Charter governs the annual “board programme” 

which comprises such matters as board meetings, 

agendas, venues, site visits, and meetings with executives, 

staff, customers, regulators, suppliers and other key 

stakeholders.

Board processes
Share dealings
Directors are required to declare their shareholdings, 

additional directorships, potential conflicts of interest and 

any dealings in securities of the company to the Chairman 

and the Company Secretary, who together with the sponsor 

ensure that such dealings are published on SENS. In 

addition, all directors and management with access to 

financial information and any other price sensitive 

information are prohibited from dealing in the shares of the 

company during ‘closed periods’, as defined by the JSE.
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New appointments
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee is 

responsible for identifying and nominating new board 

appointees for consideration by the board. In making new 

appointments, the committee and the board take into 

account the blend of skills and experience as well as 

concerns such as diversity. The board recognises the  

need for a formal induction programme and will look  

to implement one in the year ahead.

Self-evaluation
It is the intent of the board to conduct a self-evaluation 

exercise on an annual basis reviewing its role, processes, 

committees and performance, as set out in the Board 

Charter. The first such exercise is expected to take place 

in the current year. The Chairman, with the Remuneration 

and Nominations Committee, will evaluate the board’s 

performance. In addition a review of each director’s 

performance will be undertaken by the Chairman prior 

to the director standing for re-election.

Succession planning
A deep skills base with good succession planning has 

ensured that a young senior management tier is in place, 

providing sustainability of leadership to guide the group’s 

future growth.

Regulatory and legislative compliance
The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring 

regulatory and legislative compliance.

Board committees
All committees have satisfied their responsibilities during 

the year in compliance with their Charters. The chairmen of 

the committees or another committee member nominated 

by them will attend the company’s upcoming Annual 

General Meeting and all such meetings thereafter.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee is chaired by independent 

non-executive director Simon Downes and comprises 

further of two non-executive directors, Jacob Modise and 

Dumisani Muhlwa. The CEO and Financial Director as well 

as the external auditors attend by invitation and 

management or independent third parties are invited to 

attend as appropriate. The Company Secretary is the 

secretary of the committee.

The board takes cognisance of new legislation requiring 

that all members of the Committee should be independent 

non-executive directors and will take this into consideration 

when reviewing the composition of the board of directors 

and membership of the committee, and will amend the 

Charter accordingly. The Audit and Risk Committee is 

evaluated annually.

During the year the committee met twice, which the 

directors believe is sufficient for the purpose of discharging 

the committee’s responsibilities. Additional special 

meetings are convened as and when required. Details  

of directors’ attendance at Audit and Risk Committee 

meetings during the year are set out on page 12.

The formal Audit and Risk Committee Charter tasks the 

committee with reviewing the interim and annual financial 

statements and understanding management’s accounting 

processes and the method by which it compiles financial 

information, as well as the nature and extent of the 

external auditor’s involvement in these processes.

The specific responsibilities of the committee include:

•	  Internal control – reviewing the adequacy and 

effectiveness of management information and 

internal controls to support the board in the 

discharge of its responsibilities. This includes 

monitoring management’s responsibility for the 

security of the information systems and applications 

and the contingency plans for processing financial 

information in the case of a system breakdown;

•	 	Financial reporting – reviewing the accounting 

policies adopted or any changes made and the 

measures introduced by management to enhance 

the accuracy and fair presentation of all matters 

proposed for inclusion in the annual financial 

statements and any other reports prepared with 

reference to the affairs of the company for external 

distribution or publication, including those required 

by any regulatory/supervisory authority;
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Corporate governance continued

•	 	External audit – recommending the appointment  

of external auditors for approval by shareholders, 

reviewing their performance and monitoring their 

independence. The committee also sets the 

principles for recommending the external auditors 

for non-audit purposes; and

•	 	Risk management and compliance – assisting the 

board in recognising all material risk to which ARB 

could be exposed and mitigating risk through a 

formal policy.

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
The committee is chaired by non-executive Chairman  

Alan R Burke and comprises further of independent 

non-executive director Simon Downes and non-executive 

director Jacob Modise. The CEO and Financial Director 

attend meetings by invitation and are excluded from 

deliberations in respect of their own remuneration.

The committee meets a minimum of once a year and is 

governed by a formal Charter detailing its roles and 

responsibilities. These include:

•	 	considering	and	determining	the	basis	on	which	the	

executive directors are paid;

•	 	determining	the	value	and	cost	of	executive	

remuneration of the salaries, fees, related payments, 

participation in equity, benefits in kind and pension 

arrangements, taking into account comparable 

market information from related companies;

•	 	approving	the	amount	of	executive	remuneration	and	

the manner in which it is paid;

•	 	disclosing	directors’	total	emoluments	to	

shareholders, including their salary and 

performance-related payments;

•	 	ensuring	compliance	with	the	Companies	Act	and	

any other legislation;

•	 	approving	share	incentive	arrangements	for	

employees; and

•	 	nominating	potential	directors	with	adequate	

experience knowledge and skills to the board of 

directors.

Remuneration philosophy
ARB believes that employees’ remuneration packages 

remain one of the most influential tools available to 

incentivise, develop and motivate staff, or otherwise 

influence employee performance patterns.

The group continually aligns the remuneration philosophy 

with the business strategy within the following parameters:

•	 	motivating	staff;

•	 	contributing	to	the	attraction	and	retention	of	calibre,	

quality and talent;

•	 	facilitating	a	correlation	between	performance	and	

reward;

•	 	being	transparent,	well	understood,	equitable,	

market-related and fair;

•	 	recognising	and	promoting	the	development	of	all	

employees; and

•	 	being	in	the	best	interests	of	the	company’s	

shareholders.

Accounting and auditing
External audit
The external auditors are responsible for reporting on 

whether the annual financial statements are fairly 

presented in compliance with IFRS. The preparation of the 

annual financial statements remains the responsibility of 

the directors. The Audit and Risk Committee will continue 

to evaluate the independence and effectiveness of the 

external auditors and consider whether any non-audit 

services rendered by such auditors substantively impair 

their independence. If this is found to be the case, 

appropriate corrective action will be taken in regard to 

those services. (See Audit and Risk Committee).

Internal audit
The group does not have a formalised internal audit 

function. Such a function is not considered necessary  

as the structure of the group is relatively simple and 

transparent, and all accounting is centralised under a 

single group function. Should the scale and/or complexity 

of the group warrant the introduction of an internal audit 

function in the future, the introduction of this function 

will be reconsidered.
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Internal control and risk management
Internal control
The board is responsible for the group’s systems of internal 

control and risk management and is assisted in this regard 

by the Audit and Risk Committee. These systems of internal 

control are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute 

assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the annual 

financial statements, to safeguard and maintain 

accountability of the group’s assets and to identify and 

minimise significant fraud, potential liability, loss and 

material misstatement while complying with applicable 

statutory laws and regulations.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any 

system of internal control, including the possibility of 

human error and the circumvention or overriding of 

controls. The system is therefore designed to manage 

rather than eliminate risk of failure and opportunity risk.

Nothing has come to the attention of the board to indicate 

that there has been a material breakdown in the internal 

systems of control during the year.

Risk management
The board together with the Audit and Risk Committee is 

responsible for ensuring that appropriate risk management 

procedures and practices are in place.

Stakeholder communication
The group is committed to timely, consistent and 

transparent communication with all stakeholders and 

encourages an open culture throughout the group.

Company announcements are published on SENS and 

posted to shareholders. Further, the Chairman and CEO 

are available to answer queries from stakeholders, 

including industry analysts, at all times and wherever 

possible engage with the financial media to ensure 

accurate reporting.

Code of conduct and ethics  
(“the Code”)
Every employee of ARB is expected to subscribe to the 

formal Code of Ethics, which stipulates the group’s 

commitment to the highest standards of Corporate 

Governance and compliance with the laws of South Africa. 

The Code sets out standards of integrity and ethics in 

dealings with suppliers, customers, business partners, 

stakeholders, government and society at large. It requires 

all the group’s employees to act with honesty and integrity 

in all dealings with stakeholders and to interact with 

fairness, dignity and respect to create and protect a 

credible business reputation and a working environment 

free from harassment and discrimination.

In terms of the Code, ARB has made a commitment to 

transparent, timely and reliable communication internally 

and with outside stakeholders. This is carried through to 

all means of communication including advertising, where 

all untruths, concealment or misleading descriptions 

are prohibited.

In line with the Code, the group recruits and promotes 

employees on the basis of their suitability for the job 

without discrimination in terms of race, religion, national 

origin, colour, gender, age, marital status, sexual orientation 

or disability unrelated to the task at hand.

Employees have been educated about the responsibility of 

reporting any actual, perceived or potential violation of the 

Code to management. Management bears the overall 

responsibility of monitoring compliance with the Code and 

regularly assesses ethical performance to ensure that 

corrupt or unethical business practices are immediately 

eliminated. ARB takes the Code seriously and employs 

disciplinary procedures and/or legal proceedings to 

address any transgression where appropriate.
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Sustainability report

The directors acknowledge the importance of prioritising 
social and environmental practices alongside financial 
reporting and are committed to sustainable transformation 
as a business imperative.

BBBEE
ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Proprietary) Limited is rated  
as a ‘level 6’ contributor in terms of the Department of 
Trade & Industry’s BBBEE Codes of Good Practice.

Management control
25% of the directorate of ARB is comprised of black 
designates while 72,5% of the workforce is from 
designated groups including 36% from senior and middle 
management. The company is committed to improving 
black representation at all management levels.

Ownership
Black-owned investment company Batsomi Power 
(Proprietary) Limited has held a 26% stake in the 
company’s key operating subsidiary, ARB Electrical 
Wholesalers (Proprietary) Limited, since 2005. The Batsomi 
group currently focuses its investment opportunities in the 
power generation, hospitality, gaming and healthcare 
sectors and also provides advisory services in Private-
Public Partnerships, corporate finance and other 
management consulting areas.

Preferential Procurement and Enterprise 
Development
Currently 69% of ARB’s discretionary procurement is from 
broad based black empowered enterprises. ARB will 
continue to monitor the BBBEE procurement credentials of 
its suppliers.

As a means to furthering enterprise development of 
black-owned businesses, ARB facilitates access to credit 
for black electrical contractors involved in the national 
electrification programme who in the ordinary course of 
business would not be afforded credit due to risk profiling.

Employment Equity
Group recruitment policies are codified in accordance with 
the Employment Equity Act to attract the necessary 
competencies while creating equal employment 
opportunities. ARB’s policies are geared towards attracting, 
retaining and developing the staff complement with career 
development and succession planning at all levels. To 
support these objectives, innovative recruitment strategies 

are being used such as psychometric and pre-employment 
assessments.

Progress towards achieving targets in this regard is set  
out below:

2007/8 Target 2008/9
  Category/Level %* %
Top management 25,0 25,0
Senior management 33,3 35,0
Middle management 40,0 45,0
Skilled 70,3 72,0
Semi-skilled 79,7 80,0
Unskilled 94,8 95,0
Disabled 50,0 50,0
*Percentage of workforce which is black

Skills Development
ARB recognises the value in fostering an inspiring 
environment to ensure that all staff reach their maximum 
potential, which is reflected in the company’s relatively 
static staff turnover. An ongoing career promotion 
programme ensures that each staff member is afforded 
the opportunity to grow through business administration, 
management and commercial courses funded by 
the group.

During the year, 18 sales and stores employees, of which 
85% were black designates, completed a Basic Electricity 
Course developed specifically for the electrical wholesale 
industry. In the current year all sales and stores employees 
will complete this course. The group’s ongoing 
commitment to this programme will ensure basic skills  
and knowledge of products are gained, enhancing levels  
of service. All training is done ‘on-the-job’ within  
the workplace.

In addition, ARB provides study loans to employees to 
further their education.

ARB is not only committed to the ongoing training of 
employees, but to life skills teaching as well. To date ARB 
has held training in the following areas: Basic Computer 
Skills, Primary Health Care, HIV/AIDS Awareness and  
Life Orientation.

Corporate Social Investment (“CSI”)
Socio-Economic Development
ARB is committed to socio-economic development and 
empowerment of the local communities in which it 
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operates. The group actively supports a number of 
initiatives aimed at improving living conditions which 
includes supporting underprivileged schools, orphanages, 
shelters and HIV/AIDS programmes.

Organisations which have benefited from ARB’s CSI 
programme during the year include:
•	 	Arauna	Ark	Ministries,	Durban	–	supports	the	

destitute. ARB provided ongoing support in the form 
of timber waste, redundant goods and old corporate 
clothing;

•	 	Bobby	Bear	–	a	children’s	rape	crisis	centre.	ARB	
donated the electrical equipment required for the 
renovation of “safe housing” in Illovo and 
Amanzimtoti, KwaZulu-Natal; and

•	 	Bob’s	Rooms,	Durban	–	a	drug	and	alcohol	
dependency retreat. ARB provided redundant 
corporate clothing.

In lieu of corporate gifting during the festive season, each 
branch selects a charity to support and in this way further 
contributes to the upliftment of the communities in which 
they operate. During the year these charities included:
•	 Natal	Children’s	Home	(Pietermaritzburg);
•	 Bellville	Night	Shelter	Organisation	(Cape	Town);
•	 Society	of	St	Vincent	De	Paul	(East	London);
•	 Noah	(Gauteng);
•	 Richards	Bay	Family	Care	(Richards	Bay);	and
•	 Bobby	Bear	(Durban).

ARB also believes in the social upliftment through sport 
and recreation and has been involved for a number of 
years in the sponsorship of KwaZulu-Natal Club Rugby and 
the Surf Ski World Cup.

Health and Safety
ARB is committed to a safe and healthy working 
environment and ensures strict compliance with the South 
African Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993. The 
group has further developed a Safety Awareness 
Programme to address current legislation.

The branch manager at each site assumes the role of 
Safety Officer and is responsible for health and safety at 
that branch. Supervisors take responsibility for safety 
within their departments and receive the necessary training 
to effectively discharge their responsibilities. “Toolbox talks” 
are held and minuted on a regular basis to identify and 

deal with ongoing safety issues. Where risk issues are 
identified, appropriate measures are taken to mitigate 
the risk.

Training of staff has been implemented at each branch. 
Particular attention is paid to the prescribed training where 
validations expire over a period of time. This includes: 
Forklift Operators Permits, Level 1 First Aid, Professional 
Drivers Permits and Health and Safety Representatives.

Further, each branch was inspected during the year  
by the Department of Labour inspectors to ensure that  
the relevant documentation and procedures in terms  
of the Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993 are in place. 
Contraventions have been attended to and all branches 
have been given a clearance certificate.

The Safety Awareness Programme is proving very effective 
with no incidence of casualties in the past year.

HIV/AIDS
As a responsible corporate citizen, ARB is concerned about 
the HIV/AIDS pandemic threatening South Africans and is 
committed to minimising the implications of the disease 
through proactive HIV/AIDS workplace programmes. The 
group draws on the government’s policy on HIV/AIDS as 
a guideline for their HIV/AIDS awareness programme. 
Condoms supplied by the Health Department are 
distributed to staff members and issues surrounding  
HIV/AIDS are regularly discussed at “toolbox talks”.

Environment
ARB is committed to ensuring it takes necessary 
preventative measures to protect the environment. A 
dedicated member of the senior executive management 
team at group level is responsible for waste and 
environmental management.

Recycling of all hydrocarbon and the removal of dangerous 
substance wastes (eg fluorescent tubes) is undertaken by  
a registered waste management company – Interwaste. 
Ongoing “Cleaning and Greening” takes place at each 
branch to ensure that verges and approaches to properties 
are well kept.

Electrical shortages have prompted ARB to install  
three-phase standby generators and UPS’s in each  
of the branches, which will ensure that the group sustains 
an uninterrupted supply of electricity at all times.
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Independent Auditor’s report
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF ARB HOLDINGS LIMITED

REpORT ON THE ANNuAL FINANcIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements and group financial statements of ARB Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the directors’ report, the balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the income statement, statement 
of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 22 to 59.

MANAGEMENT’S RESpONSIBILITy FOR THE ANNuAL FINANcIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act in South Africa. This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AuDITOR’S RESpONSIBILITy
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OpINION
In our opinion, the annual financial statements and group financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of ARB Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2008, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act in South Africa.

PKF Durban
Registered Auditors
Chartered Accountants (South Africa)

Partner: K Gertenbach

Durban
25 August 2008
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Directors’ statement of responsibility and approval
 

The directors are required by the South African Companies Act, 1973, as amended, to maintain adequate accounting records 
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements of ARB Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries 
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the company and the group as at the end of the financial year and the results of its 
operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based 
upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business 
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the group is 
on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company.

While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 30 June 2009 and, in light of this review and the 
current financial position, they are satisfied that the company and group have or have access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

AppROvAL OF ANNuAL FINANcIAL STATEMENTS
The annual financial statements of the group and company set out on pages 22 to 59, which have been prepared on the going 
concern basis, were approved by the board of directors on 25 August 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

Alan R Burke Craig Robertson
Non-executive Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Durban
25 August 2008
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Statement of the Company Secretary

I certify, to the best of my knowledge and belief, that the requirements as stated in Section 268G of the Companies Act 61 of 
1973, as amended, have been met and that all returns, as required of a public company in terms of the aforementioned Act, 
have been submitted to the Registrar of Companies and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

William Neasham CA(SA)
Company Secretary

Durban
25 August 2008
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The directors of ARB Holdings Limited have pleasure in presenting their report for the group for the year.

NATuRE OF BuSINESS AND OpERATIONS

ARB Holdings Limited is a holding and investment company which owns fixed property and vehicles for letting.

ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Proprietary) Limited is the main operating subsidiary. It is a fast growing black empowered electrical 

wholesaler operating in South Africa and offering a wide range of locally manufactured and imported products including power 

and instrument cabling, conductors, overhead line hardware, insulators, transformers and general electrical contracting 

materials. Clients range across large and heavy industry, parastatals, major construction groups, top mining houses and 

electrical contractors.

ARB IT Solutions (Proprietary) Limited, another subsidiary, sells computer hardware, software support services and an 

accounting management system known as Xact.

FINANcIAL RESuLTS

The annual financial statements presented on pages 22 to 59 set out fully the financial position, results of operations and cash 

flows for the year.

AccOuNTING pOLIcIES

Detailed accounting policies are set out in note 2 to the annual financial statements.

DIvIDEND

Prior to listing a dividend amounting to R56 660 000 was declared and paid to shareholders.

Subsequent to year-end the company has declared a final dividend for the year of 13 cents per share. This is in line with the 

policy set out in the prospectus to distribute an annual dividend of up to a maximum of one third of net profit after taxation, 

taking into account distributable reserves and cash available for distribution.

SHARE cApITAL

Authorised share capital

The authorised share capital at the beginning of the year of R20 000, being 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each, was increased 

during the year to R100 000, being 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each by:

– the subdivision of each of the 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each into 10 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each; and

– the creation of 800 000 000 new ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each.

Issued share capital

The issued share capital at the beginning of the year was R20 000, being 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each, and was 

increased to R23 500, being 235 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each resulting from:

– the subdivision of each of the 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each into 10 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each; and

– the allotment of 35 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each on 20 November 2007.

Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Subsidiaries

Issued capital % held Number of shares held

  Name and nature of business R 2008 2007 2008 2007

ARB Electrical Wholesalers  
(Proprietary) Limited  
– Electrical wholesalers 10 000 74 74 7 400 7 400

ARB IT Solutions (Proprietary) Limited*  
–  Accounting and management 

systems 100 100 – 100 –

ARB Global (Proprietary) Limited*  
–  Import/export electrical wholesalers 100 100 – 100 –

*These were acquired and formed during the year for R200. ARB Global (Proprietary) Limited will only commence trading during the 2009 financial year.

2008 2007

R’000 R’000

The company’s share of the aggregate profits after tax from subsidiaries 88 122 74 077

All subsidiaries are incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.

DIREcTORS

The directors of the company during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

AR Burke – Non-executive Chairman

CC Robertson – CEO

WR Neasham – Financial Director

ST Downes – Independent non-executive director (appointed 12 October 2007)

JR Modise – Non-executive director (appointed 18 October 2007)

DF Muhlwa – Non-executive director (appointed 18 October 2007)

BS Sloley – Director (retired 14 September 2007)

CM Cockerell – Director (retired 14 September 2007)

DIREcTORS’ AND OFFIcERS’ INTERESTS IN cONTRAcTS

No material contracts in which directors have an interest were entered into during the year other than the transactions detailed 

in note 31 to the annual financial statements.

MANAGEMENT By THIRD AND RELATED pARTIES

Neither the business of the company nor its subsidiaries, nor any part thereof, has been managed by a third person or a 

company in which a director had an interest during the year under review.
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Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2008

DIREcTORS’ EMOLuMENTS
Director’s emoluments are set out in note 22 to the annual financial statements.

Directors’ shareholding and shareholders with more than 5% of the issued share capital of the company

Number of shares held

Percentage 
held (%)

Direct Indirect

  Director Beneficial Beneficial
Non-

beneficial

2008

Alan R Burke (Non-executive Chairman) 18 523 077 92 769 568 2 350 000 48,4

Simon Downes *> 300 000 – – 0,1

Jacob Modise* 2 000 000 – – 0,9

Dumisani Muhlwa* 1 000 000 – – 0,4

William Neasham (FD) 4 861 539 – 81 000 2,1

Craig Robertson (CEO) 16 205 128 243 108 – 7,0

Clinton Cockerell ** 12 153 846 – 8 000 5,2

Bruce Sloley ** 12 153 846 – – 5,2
* Non-executive > Independent

**Director of subsidiary ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Proprietary) Limited

The following changes to directors’ shareholdings have occurred since year-end, being transactions during the period 24 June 
2008 to 30 June 2008 but settled and transferred after year-end:
– purchase of an additional 1 272 287 shares by Non-executive Chairman Alan R Burke; and
– purchase of an additional 100 000 shares by independent non-executive director Simon Downes.

Save for the above, no other shares were traded by any director from 30 June 2008 until the date of this report.

No comparative shareholdings have been presented due to the change of the company from a private company to a public 
company on 15 October 2007.

cOMpANy SEcRETARy
The secretary of the company is WR Neasham, whose business and postal addresses are the addresses of the company as set 
out on the inside back cover of the annual report.

AuDITORS
PKF Durban, Chartered Accountants (SA), Registered Auditors, will continue in office as auditors of the company in accordance 
with Section 270(2) of the South African Companies Act, 1973 subject to shareholder approval at the upcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

MANAGEMENT By THIRD AND RELATED pARTIES
Neither the business of the company nor its subsidiaries, nor any part thereof, has been managed by a third person or a 
company in which a director had an interest during the year under review.

cORpORATE GOvERNANcE
The directors acknowledge and subscribe to the values of good corporate governance as set out in the King II Report.  
By supporting this Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct, the directors have recognised the need to conduct the business  
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of the group with integrity and in accordance with generally accepted best corporate governance practice. Please see ‘Corporate 

Governance Report’ on page 11 of the annual report for further detail in this regard.

SpEcIAL RESOLuTIONS
The following special resolutions were passed by the company on 15 October 2007:

Special resolution 1
–  RESOLVED THAT each of the 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each in the issued and authorised share capital of the company 

be and is hereby subdivided into 10 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each.

Special resolution 2
–  RESOLVED THAT upon special resolution 1 becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the company be and is hereby 

increased from R20 000 divided into 200 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each to R100 000 divided into 

1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each by the creation of 800 000 000 new ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each, 

which new shares shall, upon their issue, rank pari passu in all respects with the existing issued ordinary shares of 

0,01 cent each.

Special resolution 3
–  RESOLVED THAT the company be and is hereby converted from a private company having a share capital to a public 

company having a share capital.

Special resolution 4
–  RESOLVED THAT the articles of association placed before the meeting and signed by the chairman for the purpose of 

identification be and are hereby adopted as the articles of association of the company in substitution for all the existing 

articles of association of the company.

Special resolution 5
–  RESOLVED THAT the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general approval, to repurchase on 

behalf of the company, ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each (“ordinary shares”) issued by the company, in terms of section 85 

to 90 of the Companies Act, 1973 (Act 61 of 1973), as amended, and in terms of the Listings Requirements of JSE Limited 

(“JSE”) being that:

 –  any such repurchase of ordinary shares shall be implemented on the open market of the JSE;

 –  this general authority shall only be valid until the company’s Annual General Meeting, provided that it shall not extend 

beyond 15 months from the date of passing of this special resolution;

 –  an announcement will be published for every 3% of the ordinary shares in issue, in aggregate, repurchase by the 

company, containing full details of such acquisition in accordance with section 5.79 of the Listings Requirements;

 –  in terms of this general approval, the acquisition of ordinary shares in any one financial year may not exceed, in 

aggregate, 20% of the company’s issued share capital of that class, at the time that approval is granted, and the 

acquisition of shares by a subsidiary of the company may not exceed 10% in the aggregate, in any one financial year, of 

the number of issued shares of the company of that class;

 –  in determining the price at which ordinary shares issued by the company are repurchased by it in terms of this general 

approval, the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be repurchased is 10% of the weighted average of 

the market value at which such ordinary shares are traded, respectively, on the JSE as determined over the five trading 

days immediately preceding the day on which the transaction was agreed;

 –  the company may only undertake a repurchase of shares if, after such repurchase, it still complies with paragraphs 3.37 

to 3.41 of the Listings Requirements concerning shareholder spread requirements; and
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Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2008

 –  the company or its subsidiaries may not repurchase shares during a prohibited period as defined in paragraph 3.67 of 

the Listings Requirements unless a repurchase programme is in place, where the dates and quantities of securities to 

be traded during the relevant period are fixed and full details of the programme have been disclosed in an 

announcement over SENS prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.

The following special resolution was passed by ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Proprietary) Limited on 25 October 2007:

–  RESOLVED THAT the articles of association placed before the meeting and signed by the chairman for the purpose of 

identification, be and are hereby adopted as the articles of association of the company in substitution for all the existing 

articles of association of the company.

The following special resolutions were passed by ARB IT Solutions (Proprietary) Limited during the year:

–  On 4 September 2007

 – Special resolution 1
   RESOLVED THAT the name of the company be changed from Zevoli 136 (Proprietary) Limited to ARB IT Solutions 

(Proprietary) Limited.

 – Special resolution 2
   RESOLVED THAT the Memorandum of Association be amended by the deletion of paragraphs 2 and 3 thereof and the 

substitution of the following:

  A.   Purpose describing main business 

The main business which the company is to carry on is IT SYSTEMS AND SUPPORT IN ALL ASPECTS.

  B.   Main object 

The main object of the company is IT SYSTEMS AND SUPPORT IN ALL ASPECTS.

– On 24 October 2007

 –  RESOLVED THAT the articles of association placed before the meeting and signed by the chairman for the purpose of 

identification, be and are hereby adopted as the articles of association of the company in substitution for all the existing 

articles of association of the company.

SHARE OpTION ScHEME
The salient features of the share option scheme are as follows:

1.  An employee share option scheme has been established in terms of which the directors of the company may grant options 

to employees (including executive directors) to acquire shares in the company in such form and on such terms as provided 

for by the share option scheme rules.

2.  Employees and executive directors will be eligible to participate in the employee share option scheme only if and to the 

extent that offers are made to them.

3.  The aggregate number of unissued shares that may be reserved for the share option scheme, together with the shares 

under option, may not exceed 15% (fifteen percent) of the company’s issued share capital from time to time.

4.  The aggregate number of shares which any employee is entitled to acquire under the share option scheme may not exceed 

1% (one percent) of the company’s issued share capital from time to time.

5.  The price at which an option may be exercised will be equal to the closing price of ARB shares on the JSE on the trading day 

preceding that on which the employee was granted the option.
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6. Each option granted will remain in force for a period of 11 years from the date of granting of the option.

7. Each option granted will only be exercised on the following bases:
	 •	 	After	6	(six)	years	have	elapsed	from	the	date	on	which	the	option	is	granted,	in	respect	of	not	more	than	10%	(ten	

percent) of the shares which are the subject of that option;
	 •	 	After	7	(seven)	years	have	elapsed	from	the	date	on	which	the	option	is	granted,	in	respect	of	not	more	than	25%	

(twenty-five percent) of the shares which are the subject of that option;
	 •	 	After	8	(eight)	years	have	elapsed	from	the	date	on	which	the	option	is	granted,	in	respect	of	not	more	than	45%	

(forty-five percent) of the shares which are the subject of that option;
	 •	 	After	9	(nine)	years	have	elapsed	from	the	date	on	which	the	option	is	granted,	in	respect	of	not	more	than	70%	

(seventy percent) of the shares which are the subject of that option; and
	 •	 	After	10	(ten)	years	have	elapsed	from	the	date	on	which	the	option	is	granted,	in	respect	of	all	the	shares	which	are	the	

subject of that option.

  Provided that, notwithstanding the aforegoing, the directors shall be entitled, in their absolute discretion and from time to 
time, to permit an option to be exercised in respect of all or part of the shares which are the subject of that option.

8.  The directors may, if they consider that the circumstances warrant such action, with the consent of a participant, cancel a 
transaction resulting from the acceptance of an offer or the exercise of an option without any resultant claim against the 
participant or repurchase any shares so purchased by a participant for a purchase price not exceeding the cost to the 
participant of those shares.

  No options were in issue, cancelled or issued during the year under review.

BORROwINGS
On behalf of the group, the directors have established credit facilities with various financial institutions for use by the company 
and various subsidiary companies. The directors did not exceed any authorised levels of borrowings during the year under 
review.

pROpERTy, pLANT AND EquIpMENT
The group acquired property, plant and equipment amounting to R13 163 028 (2007 – R19 745 883) during the year under 
review.

pOST BALANcE SHEET EvENT
On 1 August 2008 the new subsidiary ARB Global (Proprietary) Limited commenced operations to focus exclusively on furthering 
the group’s export activities into Africa.
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Group Company

Notes
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets 96 281 79 683 90 107 149 175
Property, plant and equipment 4 94 168 77 310 12 724 12 568
Investment properties 5 – –  77 375  61 882 
Investment in subsidiaries 6 – –  8  7 
Loan receivable 7 – – –  73 378 
Deferred taxation 8  2 113  2 373 – –
Deferred lease income 9 – – –  1 340 
Current assets  655 710  409 377  188 081  38 584 
Inventory 10  307 966  213 500 – –
Trade and other receivables 11  234 975  195 854 –  84 
Deferred lease income 9 – –  1 003 –
Loans receivable 12 – –  101 956  38 500 
Deferred lease payments 16  58 – – –
Taxation overpaid  122 –  122 –
Cash resources  112 589  23  85 000 –

Total assets  751 991  489 060  278 188  187 759 

EquITy AND LIABILITIES
Equity and reserves  473 751  218 994  255 827  116 122 
Share capital 13  24  20  24  20 
Share premium 14  171 375 –  171 375 –
Revaluation reserve  29 897  23 893  29 897  23 893 
Non-distributable reserve –  9 374 – –
Capital reserve – –  26 234  26 234 
Accumulated profits  208 978  152 120  28 297  65 975 
Attributable to ARB equity holders  410 274  185 407  255 827  116 122 
Minority interest  63 477  33 587 – –

Non-current liabilities  18 313  48 650  18 238  26 058 
Interest-bearing borrowings 15  4 212  40 070  4 212  17 478 
Deferred lease payments 16  68 – – –
Deferred taxation 8  14 033  8 580  14 026  8 580 

Current liabilities 259 927  221 416  4 123  45 579 
Trade and other payables 17  248 687  130 735  373  232 
Provisions 18  2 390  2 289 – –
Interest-bearing borrowings 15  3 716  9 930  3 716  6 973 
Deferred lease payments 16 –  24 – –
Deferred lease income 9 – – –  168 
Shareholders’ loans 19 –  37 165 –  37 165 
Taxation payable  5 051  19 250 –  1 041 
Bank overdraft  83  22 023  34 –

Total equity and liabilities  751 991  489 060  278 188  187 759

Balance sheets
At 30 June 2008
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Income statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Group Company

Notes
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
Revenue 2.2  1 343 909  1 047 642  16 173  13 524
Cost of sales 2.3  1 064 606  808 871 – –
Gross profit  279 303  238 771  16 173  13 524
Other income  1 972  1 284  8 344  24 576
Other expenses  (86 160)  (71 492)  (3 880)  (3 502)
Profit before interest and taxation 20  195 115  168 563  20 637  34 598
Dividends received  
– subsidiary company – –  2 960 –
Interest received 23  7 492  1 416  22 926  9 914
Interest paid 24  (6 541)  (13 595)  (5 294)  (4 614)
Profit before taxation  196 066  156 384  41 229  39 898
Taxation 25  60 992  46 164  16 243  12 372

Profit for the year  135 074  110 220  24 986  27 526

Earnings attributable to:  135 074  110 220
ARB equity holders  104 144  84 193
Minority interest  30 930  26 027

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (cents) 26.1  47,05  42,10 
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 26.1  47,05  42,10 
Headline earnings per share (cents) 26.2  47,05  42,10 

Diluted headline earnings  
per share (cents) 26.2  47,05  42,10 

Dividends per share (cents) 26.4  28,33 –
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2008

  Group

Share
capital
R’000

Share
premium

R’000

Revaluation
reserve

R’000

Non-distri-
butable 
reserve

R’000

Accumu-
lated

profits
R’000

Minority
interest

R’000
Total

R’000
Balance at 30 June 2006 20 – 6 483 9 374 67 927 7 560 91 364
Profit for the year – – – – 84 193 26 027 110 220
Revaluation of property, plant  
and equipment net of taxation – – 17 410 – – – 17 410

Balance at 30 June 2007 20 – 23 893 9 374 152 120 33 587 218 994
Issue of shares 4 171 375 – – – – 171 379
Transfer of reserves – – – (9 374) 9 374 – –
Profit for the year – – – – 104 144 30 930 135 074
Dividends paid – – – – (56 660) (1 040) (57 700)
Revaluation of property, plant  
and equipment net of taxation – – 6 004 – – – 6 004

Balance at 30 June 2008 24 171 375 29 897 – 208 978 63 477 473 751

  Company

Share
capital
R’000

Share
premium

R’000

Revaluation
reserve

R’000

Capital 
reserve

R’000

Accumu-
lated

profits
R’000

Total
R’000

Balance at 30 June 2006 20 – 6 483 26 234 55 859 88 596
Profit for the year – – – – 27 526 27 526
Revaluation of investment properties  
net of taxation – – 17 410 – (17 410) –

Balance at 30 June 2007 20 – 23 893 26 234 65 975 116 122
Issue of shares 4 171 375 – – – 171 379
Profit for the year – – – – 24 986 24 986
Dividends paid – – – – (56 660) (56 660)
Revaluation of investment properties  
net of taxation – – 6 004 – (6 004) –

Balance at 30 June 2008 24 171 375 29 897 26 234 28 297 255 827
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Cash flow statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Group Company

Notes
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
cASH FLOwS FROM  
OpERATING AcTIvITIES  55 005  28 108  (32 900)  14 301
Cash received from customers  1 304 789  981 332  16 257  13 034 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (1 121 100)  (899 784)  (1 129)  (609)
Cash generated by operating 
activities 27.1  183 689  81 548  15 128  12 425 
Interest received  7 492  1 416  22 926  9 914
Interest paid  (6 541)  (13 595)  (5 294)  (4 614)
Dividend received – –  2 960 –
Dividend paid  (57 700) –  (56 660) – 
Taxation paid 27.2  (68 660)  (41 261)  (9 185)  (3 424)
Secondary tax on companies paid  (3 275) –  (2 775) –
cASH FLOwS FROM  
INvESTING AcTIvITIES  (10 418)  (15 512)  (7 671)  (12 870)
Expenditure to maintain operating 
activities
Investment property acquired – –  (7 155)  (12 046)
Property, plant and equipment acquired  (10 942)  (15 799)  (1 040)  (1 112)
Proceeds from disposal of property, 
plant and equipment  524  287  524  287
Equity in subsidiaries – –  –  1
cASH FLOwS FROM  
FINANcING AcTIvITIES  89 919  25 128  125 537  (1 465)
Issue of shares  171 379 –  171 379 –
Loans receivable collected – –  9 922  (27 063)
Loans repaid  (81 460)  25 128  (55 764)  25 598

INcREASE IN cASH RESOuRcES  134 506  37 724  84 966  (34)
cASH BORROwINGS at beginning  
of year  (22 000)  (59 724) –  34

cASH RESOuRcES at end of year 27.3  112 506  (22 000)  84 966 –
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Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
the Companies Act of South Africa, 1973.

1. BASIS OF pREpARATION
  The annual financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis and incorporate the principal accounting policies 

listed below, except for the following assets and liabilities which are stated at fair value: derivative financial instruments 
and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale. Non-current and disposal groups held-for-sale are stated at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. These accounting policies are consistent with the previous year.

  The areas including a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions or estimates are significant 
to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

1.1 Adoption of standards and interpretations effective in 2008
 The following standards have been applied by the group from 1 July 2007:
	 •	 IFRS	7	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosure.
	 •	 IAS	1	(Amendment)	Capital	Disclosures.

  The application of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) in the year ended 30 June 2008 have not affected the amounts 
recognised in the balance sheet or income statement as the standards are concerned with disclosure only.

1.2 Standards and interpretations effective in 2008 but not relevant
  The following amendments became effective in the current financial year but are not relevant to the operations of the 

group.
	 •	 IFRIC	11	(IFRS	2)	–	Group	and	treasury	share	transactions

1.3 Standards and interpretations in issue not yet effective
  The following IFRS was available for early application but has not yet been applied by the group in these financial 

statements:
	 •	 IFRIC	12	–	Service	Concession	Arrangements
	 •	 IFRIC	13	–	Customer	Loyalty	Programmes
	 •	 IFRIC	14	(IAS	19)	–	The	limit	on	a	Defined	Benefit	Asset,	Minimum	Funding	Requirements	and	their	Interactions.
	 •	 IFRIC	15	–	Arrangement	for	the	construction	of	real	estate	for	years	commencing	on	or	after	1	January	2009.
	 •	 IFRIC	16	–	Hedge	of	a	net	investment	in	a	foreign	operation	for	years	commencing	on	or	after	1	October	2008.
	 •	 IFRS	3	(revised)	–	Business	combinations	for	years	commencing	on	or	after	1	July	2009.
	 •	 IFRS	8	–	Operating	segments	for	years	commencing	on	or	after	1	January	2009.
	 •	 IAS	1	(revised)	–	Presentation	of	financial	statements	for	years	commencing	on	or	after	1	January	2009.
	 •	 IAS	23	–	Borrowing	costs	for	years	commencing	on	or	after	1	January	2009.

  The application of IFRS 8 and IAS 1 (revised) in the year ended 30 June 2008 would not have affected the balance sheet 
or income statement as the standard is concerned only with disclosure.

  The application of IAS 23 will not affect the balance sheet and income statement as the group has no qualifying assets in 
the current year to capitalise borrowing costs to.

  The application of IFRIC 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 will not affect the balance sheet or income statement as they are not 
relevant to the group.

The application of IFRS 3 (revised) will not affect the balance sheet or income statement for the year ended 30 June 2008.
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2. AccOuNTING pOLIcIES
2.1 Basis of consolidation
 Subsidiaries
  Subsidiaries which are those entities in which the group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or 

otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating policies, are consolidated. The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the group controls 
another entity.

  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the control is transferred to the group and are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition 
of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities 
undertaken at the date of acquisition plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiaries acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of 
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in 
the income statement. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the group. Minority interest in the net assets (excluding 
goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. Minority interests consist 
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination (see 2.8) and the minority’s share of 
changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest 
in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interest of the group except to the extent that the minority has a 
binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses. Inter-company transactions, balances 
and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.

2.2 Revenue recognition
 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:
 – the company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
 –  the company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold;
 – the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
 – it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the company; and
 – the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable 
for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value 
added tax.

 Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

 Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the company’s right to receive payment has been established.

2.3 Cost of sales
 Cost of sales comprises costs that relate directly to revenue.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment
  Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses. Depreciation is computed by allocating the depreciable amount of an asset on a systematic basis over its useful 
life and is applied separately to each identifiable component. Residual values and useful lives are assessed at the end of 
every financial year and the year’s depreciation determined.
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Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008

2. AccOuNTING pOLIcIES (continued)
2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
  The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually for an indication whether or not the relevant 

asset is impaired. If any such indication exists and where the carrying amounts exceed the estimated recoverable amount, 
the assets or cash-generated units are written down to their recoverable amounts. Impairment losses and reversals are 
recognised directly in the income statement under the line item “other expenses”, unless such reversals relate to 
previously recognised revaluation reserves in equity.

  Land and buildings held-for-use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes are stated 
in the balance sheet at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation and less any subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do 
not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the balance sheet date.

  Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of such land and buildings is credited in equity to the properties’ 
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. 
A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is charged to profit or loss to the 
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties’ revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of 
that asset.

 Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful lives as follows:
 Buildings – 40 years
 Plant and equipment – 5 to 15 years
 Office furniture and fittings – 6 years
 Office equipment – 5 to 6 years
 Computer equipment – 3 years
 Vehicles – 4 to 5 years
 Land is not depreciated.

 Where the estimated residual value of an asset is above its carrying value, no depreciation is raised.

2.5 Investment properties
  Investment property in the company, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is measured 

initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair 
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period 
in which they arise.

2.6 Inventory
  Inventory consists of power and instrument cable, overhead line equipment and general electrical contracting materials 

purchased for resale and is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted 
average cost basis. Adequate provision is made for obsolete, redundant and slow moving inventory.

2.7 Taxation
 Current tax
  The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year adjusted for items which are tax exempt or are not tax 

deductible. Tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

 Deferred tax
  Deferred tax is provided on the comprehensive basis computed as the difference between the tax base and carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
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2. AccOuNTING pOLIcIES (continued)
2.7 Taxation (continued)
  assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

2.8 Business combinations (goodwill)
  The purchase method is used when an entity is acquired. On acquisition date, fair values are attributed to the identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

  Fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities are deemed by return to market value of those or similar items, where 
available, or by discounting expected future cash flows to achieve present values.

  The cost of acquisition is the fair value of the group’s contribution in the form of assets transferred, shares issued and 
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date plus costs attributable to the acquisition.

  At acquisition date, goodwill is recognised when the cost of the acquisition exceeds the fair value of the group’s interest in 
the net identifiable assets of the entity acquired.

2.9 Impairment
  The carrying amounts of the assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication 

of impairment. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the recoverable 
amount is estimated as the higher of the net selling price and value in use.

  In assessing value in use, the expected future cash flows are discounted to present value using pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment losses and reversals of 
impairment losses are separately disclosed in the income statement, above the income before tax subtotal.

  For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the 
carrying amount of the cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

  A previous recognised impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimate used to determine the 
recoverable amount, however not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of 
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

2.10 Investments
  All investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and including 

acquisition charges associated with the investment.

2.11 Leased assets
  Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as 

operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

  When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the 
lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.
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Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008

2. AccOuNTING pOLIcIES (continued)
2.11 Leased assets (continued)
  Assets held for operating leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Income is recognised on a straight line 

basis over the lease term unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which benefits are 
diminished.

2.12 Borrowings
  Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings as 
interest.

2.13 Employee benefits
  All of the eligible employees are members of either the Investment Solutions or the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund. 

These funds are defined contribution plans under which the amounts to be paid as retirement benefits are determined by 
reference to employers’ contributions to the fund on behalf of employees.

  Contributions in respect of service in a particular period are recognised as an expense in that period.

2.14 Provisions
  Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, for 

which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will occur, and when a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Where the effect of discounting is material, provisions are discounted. The discount rate used is 
a pre-tax rate.

2.15 Financial instruments
 Financial assets
  Financial assets are recognised in the financial statements on the contractual commitment date. Regular way purchases 

of financial assets are accounted for at trade date/settlement date. Financial assets are initially measured at their cost; 
which is the fair value of the consideration given, plus the transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets carried 
at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are immediately expensed. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these instruments are measured as follows:

 –  Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised costs using the effective interest 
method;

 –  Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured, are measured at cost; and

 –  Other financial assets, including derivatives, at fair values, without any deduction for transaction costs which may 
occur on sale or other disposal.

 Any gain or loss arising from a change in a financial asset is recognised as follows:
 –  A gain or loss on a financial asset classified as fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss;
 –  A gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset is recognised directly in equity, through the statement of 

changes in equity, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss; and

 –  Financial assets carried at amortised cost: a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss when the financial asset or 
financial liability is derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

 Financial liabilities
  Financial liabilities are recognised in the financial statements on the contractual commitment date.
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2. AccOuNTING pOLIcIES (continued)
2.15 Financial instruments (continued)
  Financial liabilities are initially measured at their cost; which is the fair value of the consideration given, less the 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as follows:
 –  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, including derivatives that are liabilities, are measured at fair 

value;
 –  Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method;
 –  Any gain or loss arising from a change in a financial asset is recognised as follows:
  –  A gain or loss on a financial liability classified at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss;
  –  A gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial liability is recognised directly in equity, through the statement of 

changes in equity, until the financial liability is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss; and

  –  Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost: a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss when the financial 
liability is derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

2.16 Set-off of financial assets and liabilities
  If a legally enforceable right exists to set-off recognised amounts of financial assets and liabilities and the company 

intends to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and liability simultaneously, all related financial effects are netted.

2.17 Dividends
  Dividend distributions to the company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the company’s financial statements in 

the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders.

2.18 Share-based payments
  Options are measured at fair value at grant date using the Black Scholes model. The fair value is expensed on a straight-

line basis over the vesting period, based on an estimate of the number of options that will eventually vest.

  Equity settled share-based payments are not adjusted for subsequent changes in the fair value of the instruments granted 
but rather the number of equity instruments that are granted is adjusted based on the fulfilment of the attached non-
market related vesting conditions.

3. AccOuNTING ESTIMATES AND JuDGEMENTS
  The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

3.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
 Impairment of stock
  The stock obsolescence provision is management’s estimate, based on historic sales trends and its assessment of quality 

and volume and the extent to which the merchandise for resale on hand at reporting date will not be sold.

 Impairment of trade receivables
  Provision is made for doubtful debts based on management’s estimate of the prospect of recovering the debt. Where 

management has determined that the recovery of the debt is doubtful, the amount is provided for immediately.

 Residual values and useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment
  Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life taking into account residual values where appropriate. 

Assessments of useful lives and residual values are performed annually after considering factors such as relevant market 
information, the condition of the asset and management’s consideration. In assessing the residual values, the group 
considers the remaining life of the assets, its projected disposal value and future market conditions.
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Notes to the annual financial statements
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3. AccOuNTING ESTIMATES AND JuDGEMENTS (continued)
3.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
 Motor vehicles
  The group has a policy of utilising all motor vehicles for a period of 5 years. It is estimated that motor vehicles have a 

residual value approximating 60% of its initial purchase price based on historical sales trends.

 Delivery vehicles
  The group has a policy of utilising all delivery vehicles for a period of 4 years. It is estimated that delivery vehicles have a 

residual value approximating 30% of its initial purchase price based on historical sales trends.

 Plant and equipment
  Due to the specialised nature of the group’s plant and equipment, the residual values of these assets have been 

estimated to be nil. The group estimates that the useful life of these assets, being the period of time for which the assets 
can be utilised without significant modifications, replacements or improvements, is 5 to 6 years based on the current 
levels of use and repairs and maintenance costs incurred.

 Buildings
  The group estimates the useful life of buildings to be 40 years and the residual values currently exceed the carrying 

values.

3.2 Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies
 Operating lease commitments
  The company has entered into leases over properties, motor vehicles and equipment. As management has determined 

that the company has not obtained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the properties, motor vehicles 
and equipment, the leases have been classified as operating leases and accounted for accordingly.

 Contingent liabilities
  Management applies its judgement to advice it received from its attorneys, advocates and other advisors in assessing if 

an obligation is probable, more likely than not, or remote. This judgement application is used to determine if the obligation 
is recognised as a liability in the form of a provision or disclosed as a contingent liability.
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2008 2007

cost
R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

carrying
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

4. pROpERTy, pLANT  
AND EquIpMENT
GROUP
Land and buildings 77 375 – 77 375 61 882 – 61 882
Plant and equipment 6 253 2 442 3 811 4 460 1 620 2 840
Vehicles 18 448 7 885 10 563 17 072 6 070 11 002
Office furniture and 
fittings 1 624 553 1 071 839 272 567
Office equipment 993 554 439 673 370 303
Computer equipment 2 824 1 915 909 1 936 1 220 716

107 517 13 349 94 168 86 862 9 552 77 310
COMPANY
Plant and equipment 3 588 1 295 2 293 2 550 984 1 566
Vehicles 18 302 7 871 10 431 17 072 6 070 11 002

21 890 9 166 12 724 19 622 7 054 12 568

 The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

Carrying value
at beginning

of year
R’000

Additions
R’000

Revaluation
R’000

Disposals
R’000

Depreciation
R’000

Carrying
value at end

of year
R’000

GROUP
2007
Land and buildings 25 315 12 046 24 521 – – 61 882
Plant and equipment 1 528 2 183 – – (871) 2 840
Vehicles 9 583 3 947 – (287) (2 241) 11 002
Office furniture  
and fittings 309 397 – – (139) 567
Office equipment 269 166 – – (132) 303
Computer equipment 368 1 007 – – (659) 716

37 372 19 746 24 521 (287) (4 042) 77 310
2008
Land and buildings 61 882 7 155 8 338 – – 77 375
Plant and equipment 2 840 1 793 – – (822) 3 811
Vehicles 11 002 2 223 – (518) (2 144) 10 563
Office furniture and 
fittings 567 785 – – (281) 1 071
Office equipment 303 319 – – (183) 439
Computer equipment 716 889 – – (696) 909

77 310 13 164 8 338 (518) (4 126) 94 168
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4. pROpERTy, pLANT AND EquIpMENT (continued)
 Vehicles
  Vehicles with a book value of R9 481 203 (2007 – R9 502 587) are subject to instalment sale agreements  

(refer note 15).

 Land and buildings
 Land and buildings were encumbered as stated in note 15.

 Described as:
 – Sub 20 of Lot 1543, Isipingo, situated at 10 Mack Road, Prospecton, in extent 23 500 m2;
 – Sub 12 of Lot 2131, Pietermaritzburg, situated at 307 Boom Street, Pietermaritzburg, in extent 3 528 m2;
 – Erf 7704, Richards Bay (extension 24), situated at 63 Dollar Drive, Richards Bay, in extent 4 210 m2;
 – Erf 19168, East London, situated at 27 Raydon Road, East London, in extent 3 610 m2;
 –  Lot 322, Alrode Extension 2, Johannesburg, situated at 8 Bosworth Street, Johannesburg, in extent 13 220 m2;
 – Erf 2714 and 2715, Montague Gardens, situated at 14 – 16 Track Crescent, in extent 6 856 m2;
 –  Erf 85 Rocky Drift Extension 3 Township Registration Division JT, situated at 31 Wilkeusweg, Rocky Drift, Nelspruit,  

in extent 2 027 m2; and
 –  Erf 110 Rocky Drift Extension 3 Township Registration Division JT, situated at 6 Victor Street, Rocky Drift, Nelspruit,  

in extent 2 088 m2.

  The fair value of investment properties is determined annually by an independent professionally qualified valuator,  
Glen MacMillan (M.I.V.S.A.; S.A.C.V. No. 2964) who holds a National Diploma in Property Valuation. In determining the 
valuations, the valuator referred to current market conditions, recent sales transactions of similar properties in similar 
geographical locations and the present value of future rental income expected to be earned in respect of the properties in 
their current condition. The cash flows were estimated based on external evidence of current rentals for similar properties 
in similar locations.

 COMPANY
 The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

Carrying
value at

beginning
of year
R’000

Additions
R’000

Disposals
R’000

Depreciation
R’000

Carrying
value at

end of
year

R’000
2007
Plant and equipment 939 1 112 – (485) 1 566
Vehicles 9 583 3 947 (287) (2 241) 11 002

10 522 5 059 (287) (2 726) 12 568
2008
Plant and equipment 1 566 1 039 – (312) 2 293
Vehicles 11 002 2 076 (518) (2 129) 10 431

12 568 3 115 (518) (2 441) 12 724

  Vehicles with a book value of R9 481 203 (2007 – R9 502 587) are subject to instalment sale agreements  
(refer note 15).

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
5. INvESTMENT pROpERTIES

Opening carrying value – – 61 882 25 315
Additions at cost – – 7 155 12 046
Revaluation – – 8 338 24 521
Closing carrying value – – 77 375 61 882

 Described as:
 – Sub 20 of Lot 1543, Isipingo, situated at 10 Mack Road, Prospecton, in extent 23 500 m2;
 – Sub 12 of Lot 2131, Pietermaritzburg, situated at 307 Boom Street, Pietermaritzburg, in extent 3 528 m2;
 – Erf 7704, Richards Bay (extension 24), situated at 63 Dollar Drive, Richards Bay, in extent 4 210 m2;
 – Erf 19168, East London, situated at 27 Raydon Road, East London, in extent 3 610 m2;
 – Lot 322, Alrode Extension 2, Johannesburg, situated at 8 Bosworth Street, Johannesburg, in extent 13 220 m2;
 – Erf 2714 and 2715, Montague Gardens, situated at 14 – 16 Track Crescent, in extent 6 856 m2;
 –  Erf 85 Rocky Drift Extension 3 Township Registration Division JT, situated at 31 Wilkeusweg, Rocky Drift, Nelspruit,  

in extent 2 027 m2; and
 –  Erf 110 Rocky Drift Extension 3 Township Registration Division JT, situated at 6 Victor Street, Rocky Drift, Nelspruit,  

in extent 2 088 m2.

 Investment properties were encumbered as stated in note 15.

  The fair value of investment properties is determined annually by an independent professionally qualified valuator,  
Glen MacMillan (M.I.V.S.A.; S.A.C.V. No. 2964) who holds a National Diploma in Property Valuation. In determining the 
valuations, the valuator referred to current market conditions, recent sales transactions of similar properties in similar 
geographical locations and the present value of future rental income expected to be earned in respect of the properties in 
their current condition. The cash flows were estimated based on external evidence of current rentals for similar properties 
in similar locations.
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
6. INvESTMENT IN SuBSIDIARIES

ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd  
– at cost
    7 400 ordinary shares of R1 each – – 7 7
ARB IT Solutions (Pty) Ltd – at cost
    100 ordinary shares of R1 each – – 1 –
ARB Global (Pty) Ltd – at cost
    100 ordinary shares of R1 each – – – –

– – 8 7
7. LOAN REcEIvABLE

ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd – – – 73 378

 This loan was unsecured, bore interest at prime 
minus 2% (2007 – prime minus 2%) per annum 
and was repaid during the period under review.

8. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax asset
The balance comprises:
– Lease smoothing effect 284 347 – –
– Doubtful debt allowance 692 982 – –
– Provision for leave pay 165 143 – –
– Interest accrual 62 86 – –
– Inventory obsolescence allowance 406 295 – –
– Provision for bonuses 504 520 – –

2 113 2 373 – –
Balance at beginning of year 2 373 1 868 – –
Movements during the year attributable to:
– Lease smoothing effect (63) 122 – –
– Doubtful debt allowance (290) 9 – –
– Provision for leave pay 22 120 – –
– Interest accrual (24) 27 – –
– Inventory obsolescence allowance 111 (1) – –
– Provision for bonuses (16) 228 – –

Balance at end of year 2 113 2 373 – –

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
8. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred tax liability
The balance comprises:
– Investment properties – – (12 462) (10 477)
– Property, plant and equipment (13 752) (11 390) (1 283) (913)
– Lease smoothing effect (281) (340) (281) (340)
– Unutilised STC credit – 3 150 – 3 150

(14 033) (8 580) (14 026) (8 580)
Balance at beginning of year (8 580) 375 (8 580) 375
Movements during the year attributable to:
– Investment properties – – (1 985) (7 809)
– Property, plant and equipment (2 362) (8 033) (370) (224)
– Change in STC rate – (788) – (788)
– Lease smoothing effect 59 (134) 59 (134)
– Unutilised STC credit (3 150) – (3 150) –

Balance at end of year (14 033) (8 580) (14 026) (8 580)
9. DEFERRED LEASE INcOME

Arising on the straight-lining of income earned 
under operating leases:
– Long-term portion – – – 1 340
– Current portion – – 1 003 (168)

Total deferred lease income – – 1 003 1 172
10. INvENTORy

Merchandise for resale 310 804 215 535 – –
Allowance for impairment (2 838) (2 035) – –

307 966 213 500 – –
Inventory has been valued as stated in note 2.6.
Impairment losses
Allowance for impairment in respect of inventory 
can be reconciled as follows:
Opening balance 2 035 1 792 – –
Impairments recognised in profit and loss 803 243 – –

Closing balance 2 838 2 035 – –
The following factors were considered in 
determining the amount of the impairment of 
inventory:
Historic sales trends
Merchandise for resale on hand at reporting date 
which will not be sold.
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
11. TRADE AND OTHER REcEIvABLES

Gross trade receivables 224 614 185 973 – –
Allowance for impairment (3 295) (4 516) – –

221 319 181 457 – –
Prepayments 51 – – –
Deposits 62 25 – –
Other receivables 13 543 14 372 – 84

234 975 195 854 – 84
 The carrying value of trade and other receivables 
approximated their fair value due to the short term 
nature of these instruments.
Impairment losses
Allowance for impairment in respect of trade 
receivables can be reconciled as follows:
Opening balance 4 516 4 475 – –
Reversals of provisions (3 474) (2 824) – –
New provisions raised 2 699 4 015 – –
Provision utilised (446) (1 150) – –

Closing balance 3 295 4 516 – –

 The following table illustrates the relationship between aged gross trade receivables and the impairment allowance:

Group Group
2008

Gross trade
receivables

R’000

2008
Impairment

allowance
R’000

2007
Gross trade
receivables

R’000

2007
Impairment

allowance
R’000

Not past due 205 541 522 163 278 1 246
Past due 0 to 30 days 10 255 827 13 551 1 516
Past due 30 to 60 days 4 326 922 3 334 216
Past due 60 days + 4 492 1 024 5 810 1 538

224 614 3 295 185 973 4 516

The following factors were considered in determining the amount of the impairment of trade receivables:
Financial difficulties
Abscondences
Disputes

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Group Group
2008

Gross trade
receivables

R’000

2008
Impairment

allowance
R’000

2007
Gross trade
receivables

R’000

2007
Impairment

allowance
R’000

11. TRADE AND OTHER REcEIvABLES  
(continued)
Exposure to credit risk
Gross trade receivables represent the maximum 
credit exposure 224 614 – 185 973 –

The gross trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was spread across the following categories:
Government/parastatals/municipalities
Large industry/the mining sector
Large contractors
Small contractors
Wholesalers

  The group’s trade receivable balances with government; parastatals; municipalities; large industry; the mining sector, and 
large contractors, reduces the company’s exposure to credit risk.

  Credit risk in respect of small contractors and wholesalers is controlled through the use of credit vetting agencies and the 
setting of credit limits by senior financial management.

  The credit risk in respect of other receivables is considered by the directors to be minimal as it relates to transactions with 
major corporations within the Republic of South Africa.

  Credit evaluations are performed using the reports and tools of the credit vetting agencies amongst other things, on new 
customers and existing customers requiring credit above their previously pre-authorised levels. Listings of overdue 
customer balances are reviewed daily and any customer exceeding their credit terms must settle their overdue balance 
before any further credit is extended. Overdue trade receivables are handed over to attorneys for collection as soon as it 
becomes apparent that recovery may be uncertain.

  A subsidiary has entered into an undisclosed invoice discounting agreement whereby it has ceded all of its book debts in 
favour of Nedbank Limited as security for this facility. This facility was unutilised at 30 June 2008.
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
12. LOANS REcEIvABLE

ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd – – 101 271 38 500
ARB IT Solutions (Pty) Ltd – – 681 –
ARB Global (Pty) Ltd – – 4 –

– – 101 956 38 500

 These loans are unsecured, bear interest at prime (2007 – prime minus 1,75%) per annum, and have no fixed dates  
of repayment.

Number
of shares

’000 R’000
13. SHARE cApITAL

Authorised
Balance 30 June 2006 – 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each 20 20
Movements during the year – –

Balance 30 June 2007 – 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each 20 20
Movements during the year
– subdivide each share into 10 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each 199 980 –
– creation of 800 000 000 new ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each 800 000 80

Balance 30 June 2008 – 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each 1 000 000 100

Issued
Balance 30 June 2006 – 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each 20 20
Movements during the year – –

Balance 30 June 2007 – 20 000 ordinary shares of R1 each 20 20
Movements during the year
– subdivide each share into 10 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent each 199 980 –
– allotment of shares on 20 November 2007 at a premium of 509,99 cents per share 35 000 4

Balance 30 June 2008 – 235 000 000 ordinary shares of 0,01 cent 235 000 24

 The directors are authorised, until the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, to issue and allot any of the unissued shares 
for any purpose and upon such terms and conditions as they deem fit.

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
14. SHARE pREMIuM

Balance at beginning of year – – – –
Arising from allotment of shares on  
20 November 2007 178 497 – 178 497 –
Share issue expenses (7 122) – (7 122) –

Balance at end of year 171 375 – 171 375 –
15. INTEREST-BEARING BORROwINGS

Batsomi Power (Pty) Ltd – 25 549 – –
 This loan bore interest at prime minus 2%  
(2007 – prime minus 2%) per annum and was 
repaid during the period under review.

Secured
Investec Bank Ltd – 15 105 – 15 105
 Secured over land and buildings valued at  
R77 374 880 (2007 – R61 882 280) (note 4). 
Interest is payable at prime less 1,5%  
(2007 – prime less 1,5%) per annum. The liability 
in respect of these bonds was settled out of the 
proceeds of the share issue in November 2007, 
but the facilities have not been cancelled.

Instalment sale agreements 7 928 9 346 7 928 9 346
 These are secured over vehicles with a book value 
of R9 481 203 (2007 – R9 502 587) (note 4). 
Interest is payable at rates linked to prime  
(2007 – Interest payable at rates linked to prime) 
per annum. Interest and capital are repayable in 
monthly instalments of R415 690  
(2007 – R372 529).

7 928 50 000 7 928 24 451
Less: Current portion transferred to current 
liabilities 3 716 9 930 3 716 6 973

4 212 40 070 4 212 17 478
16. DEFERRED LEASE pAyMENTS

Arising on the straight-lining of payments made 
under operating leases:
– Long-term portion 68 – – –
– Current portion (58) 24 – –

Total deferred lease payments 10 24 – –
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
17. TRADE AND OTHER pAyABLES

Trade payables 244 447 124 921 – –
Accruals 2 112 1 583 218 30
Payroll accruals 1 255 973 – –
VAT payables 751 2 812 155 202
Other payables 122 446 – –

248 687 130 735 373 232

 The carrying value of trade and other payables approximated their fair value due to the short term nature of these 
instruments.

Carrying 
amount at
beginning
of period

R’000

Additional
provisions

R’000

Carrying
amount

at end
of period

R’000
18. pROvISIONS

GROUP
2007
Provision for leave pay 80 412 492
Provision for bonus 1 008 789 1 797

1 088 1 201 2 289
2008
Provision for leave pay 492 99 591
Provision for bonus 1 797 2 1 799

2 289 101 2 390

 Provision for leave pay
  Provision is made for the unpaid portion of accumulating leave pay accruing to employees as a result of services rendered 

during the period.

 Provision for bonus
 Provision is made for bonuses payable to employees in December.

  The carrying value of provisions approximates their fair value due to the short term nature of these instruments. The 
provisions have been determined based on assessments and estimates made by management. Actual results could differ 
from estimates and there is no certainty as to the timing of the cash flows relating to these provisions.

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
19. SHAREHOLDERS’ LOANS

The Burke Investment Trust – 36 647 – 36 647
LB Pillai – 518 – 518

– 37 165 – 37 165
 The above loans were unsecured and bore  
interest at prime minus 1,75% (2007 – prime 
minus 1,75%) per annum and were repaid during 
the period under review.

20. pROFIT BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION
 Profit before interest and taxation is stated after 
taking the following items into account:
Income
Lease rentals – – 16 173 13 524
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

6 – 6 –

Fair value adjustment to investment properties – – 8 338 24 521

Expenditure
Auditors’ remuneration 360 220 115 50
– Audit fee 280 150 100 30
– Prior year underprovision 25 38 – 20
– Other services 55 32 15 –
Depreciation
– Plant and equipment 4 126 4 042 2 441 2 726
Lease rentals
– Premises 872 1 324 – –
Loss on foreign exchange 270 – – –
Allowance for impairment – inventory 803 243 – –
Allowance for impairment – trade receivables (1 221) 41 – –

21. STAFF cOSTS
Short-term employee benefits 41 651 34 138 – –
Contributions to retirement funds 2 918 2 220 – –
Other employment benefits 1 852 1 734 – –
Other staff costs 2 249 1 487 – –

48 670 39 579 – –

Short-term employee benefits comprise salaries, commissions and bonuses paid.

 Other employment benefits comprise travel allowances, fringe benefits on the use of company vehicles and contributions 
to medical aid funds
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
22. DIREcTORS’ EMOLuMENTS

Emoluments received
Salary 3 452 2 803 – –
Directors’ fees 108 – 108 –
Other employment benefits 524 499 – –
Contributions to retirement funds 345 281 – –

Total emoluments received 4 429 3 583 108 –

 Received as follows:

Salary
R’000

Directors’
fees

R’000

Other
employment

benefits
R’000

Contributions
to retirement

funds
R’000

Total
R’000

GROUP
2007
Full time directors
Chairman
AR Burke 907 – 215 91 1 213

Executive directors
CC Robertson 1 079 – 169 108 1 356
WR Neasham 817 – 115 82 1 014

2 803 – 499 281 3 583
2008
Full time directors
Chairman
AR Burke 1 150 – 241 115 1 506

Executive directors
CC Robertson 1 319 – 172 132 1 623
WR Neasham 983 – 111 98 1 192

Non-executive directors
JR Modise – 30 – – 30
DF Muhlwa – 30 – – 30
ST Downes – 48 – – 48

3 452 108 524 345 4 429

COMPANY
2008
Non-executive directors
JR Modise – 30 – – 30
DF Muhlwa – 30 – – 30
ST Downes – 48 – – 48

– 108 – 108

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
23. INTEREST REcEIvED

ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd – – 19 637 9 914
ARB IT Solutions (Pty) Ltd – – 93 –
Financial institutions and trade receivables 7 492 1 416 3 196 –

7 492 1 416 22 926 9 914
24. INTEREST pAID

The Burke Investment Trust 3 341 2 350 3 341 2 350
Other shareholders 114 56 114 56
Batsomi Power (Pty) Ltd 914 2 606 – –
Financial institutions 2 172 8 583 1 839 2 208

6 541 13 595 5 294 4 614
25. TAXATION

SA Normal
    Current taxation 54 339 44 825 8 022 3 416
Deferred tax
    Current period
        Temporary differences 189 551 2 700 8 168
        STC credits 3 150 788 3 150 788
        Change in tax rate 39 – (404) –

57 717 46 164 13 468 12 372
Secondary Tax on Companies (“STC”) 3 275 – 2 775 –

Tax for the year 60 992 46 164 16 243 12 372
Reconciliation of tax charge % % % %
SA Normal tax rate 28,00 29,00 28,00 29,00
Adjusted for:
    Change in tax rate 0,02 – (0,98) –
    Exempt income – – (2,00) (0,04)
    Non-deductible income and special allowances (0,19) – – –
    Non-deductible expenses – 0,02 0,01 0,08
    STC charges 3,28 – 14,37 –
    STC rate change – 0,50 – 1,97

    Effective rate 31,11 29,52 39,40 31,01
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

 The liability for STC which would arise on the full 
distribution by cash dividend of all distributable 
reserves in the company would amount to 24 768 17 734 4 957 8 383
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Group
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
26. EARNINGS pER SHARE
26.1 Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings as disclosed 104 144 84 193
Weighted average number of shares 221 325 200 000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 47,05 42,10

There are no transactions which result in a dilution of earnings or the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares.

26.2 Headline and diluted headline earnings per share
Basic earnings as disclosed 104 144 84 193
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net of taxation) (4) –

Headline earnings 104 140 84 193
Headline earnings per share (cents) 47,05 42,10

There are no transactions which result in a dilution of headline earnings or the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares.

26.3 Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares
Issued shares at beginning of the year 20 20
Effect of subdivision of each share into 10 000 ordinary shares 199 980 199 980
Effect of allotment of 35 000 000 shares on 20 November 2007 21 325 –

Weighted average number of shares 221 325 200 000

26.4 Dividends per share
Dividends declared during the year 56 660 –
Dividends per share (cents) 28,33 –
Final dividend declared after year-end 30 550 56 660
Number of shares 235 000 200 000
Dividends per share (cents) 13,00 28,33

The final dividend has not been included as a liability in the financial statements.

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
27. NOTES TO THE cASH FLOw STATEMENT
27.1 Cash generated by operating activities

Profit before taxation 196 066 156 384 41 229 39 898
Adjustments for:
Fair value adjustment to investment properties – – (8 338) (24 521)
Depreciation 4 126 4 042 2 441 2 726
Dividend received – – (2 960) –
Interest received (7 492) (1 416) (22 926) (9 914)
Interest paid 6 541 13 595 5 294 4 614
Operating lease smoothing (12) (39) 169 (461)
Movement in provisions 101 1 201 – –
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (6) – (6) –

199 323 173 767 14 903 12 342
Movements in working capital:
Increase in inventory (94 466) (62 958) – –
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (39 121) (66 309) 84 (84)
Increase in trade and other payables 117 952 37 048 141 167

183 689 81 548 15 128 12 425

27.2 Taxation paid
Charged per income statement (60 992) (46 164) (16 243) (12 372)
Adjusted for deferred tax and STC 6 653 1 339 8 221 8 956
Movement in taxation balance (14 321) 3 564 (1 163) (8)

(68 660) (41 261) (9 185) (3 424)

27.3 Cash resources
 Cash resources consist of cash on hand and 
balances with banks. Cash resources included in 
the cash flow statement comprise the following 
balance sheet amounts:
Cash resources 112 589 23 85 000 –
Bank overdraft (83) (22 023) (34) –

112 506 (22 000) 84 966 –

27.4 Significant non-cash transactions

 During the period the group and company  
acquired vehicles which were acquired by means 
of instalment sale agreements 2 222 3 947 2 075 3 947

28. EMpLOyEE BENEFITS
 Defined contribution retirement plan
  It is the policy of the group to provide retirement benefits to all its employees. A number of defined contribution provident 

funds operating Umbrella Funds, all of which are governed by the Pensions Fund Act of 1956, exist for this purpose, 
namely The Alexander Forbes Retirement fund and Investment Solutions. All the schemes are funded by group 
contributions, which are charged to the income statement as they are incurred. The total group contribution to such 
schemes in 2008 was R3 263 206 (2007: R2 500 313).
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29. cOMMITMENTS
 GROUP
 Operating lease commitments
 The group has one operating lease agreement in place as follows:

  A Nelspruit property, described as 46 Wilkens Weg is leased monthly from 1 May 2008 to 30 April 2013. The period of 
the lease is 60 months and the average monthly instalment of R35 493 is payable in advance.

Up to 1 year
R’000

1 to 5 years
R’000

Total
R’000

 Future minimum lease payments payable under this  
non-cancellable operating lease are as follows: 368 1 701 2 069

 COMPANY
 Capital commitments
 After year-end the company has:
 – Signed a number of instalment sale agreements for the purchase of vehicles amounting to R920 188;
 –  Accepted a tender for the construction of buildings on the Cape Town property (Erf 2714 and 2715, Montague 

Gardens, situated at 14 – 16 Track Crescent) amounting to R6 675 000. This capital expenditure for construction of 
buildings is to be financed through the operations of the business.

 Operating lease commitments
  The company has five operating lease agreements in place with a subsidiary. The premises are leased monthly from 

1 July 2005 to 30 June 2009 and are due for renewal. The period of the lease is 48 months and the average monthly 
instalment is R658 250.

Up to 1 year
R’000

1 to 5 years
R’000

Total
R’000

Future minimum lease payments receivable under  
this non-cancellable operating lease are as follows:
2007
Durban 3 675 4 006 7 681
East London 796 867 1 663
Gauteng 3 036 3 309 6 345
Richards Bay 824 898 1 722
Pietermaritzburg 948 1 033 1 981

9 279 10 113 19 392
2008
Durban 4 006 – 4 006
East London 867 – 867
Gauteng 3 309 – 3 309
Richards Bay 898 – 898
Pietermaritzburg 1 033 – 1 033

10 113 – 10 113

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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30. SEGMENT REpORT
  No segment report has been prepared as the company and the group do not have separately identifiable reporting 

segments.

31. RELATED pARTy TRANSAcTIONS
  The subsidiaries of the group are identified on page 23 of the Directors’ Report. All of these entities are related parties 

to the company.

  Details of material transactions with related parties are disclosed below and also as follows:
 Interest received Note 23
 Interest paid Note 24
 Directors’ emoluments Note 22
 Investments in subsidiaries Note 6
 Loans receivable from subsidiaries Notes 7 and 12
 Interest-bearing borrowing from minority shareholder of subsidiary Note 15
 Shareholders’ loans Note 19
 Directors’ shareholding Page 24 of the Directors’ Report

 Other transactions not disclosed elsewhere:

Relationship Nature of business
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
 Rentals paid to ARB Holdings Ltd by 
ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd Subsidiary Electrical wholesaler 16 393 13 445

ARB IT Solutions (Pty) Ltd Subsidiary
Accounting and 
management systems 130 –

Rentals paid by ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
(Pty) Ltd to
The Burke Investment Trust Shareholder Investment trust 60 60

Tri-Invest 4 (Pty) Ltd Common director
Property mining  
and leasing – 216

Consulting fees paid by ARB Electrical 
Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd to

Batsomi Power (Pty) Ltd
Minority shareholder 
of subsidiary Investment company 70 198

Purchases made by ARB IT Solutions  
(Pty) Ltd from

Protime Computer Systems CC
Common director/
member

Accounting and 
management systems 50 –

Purchases made by ARB Electrical 
Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd from

ARB IT Solutions (Pty) Ltd Subsidiary
Accounting and 
management systems 1 578 –

Sales made by ARB Electrical Wholesalers 
(Pty) Ltd to

ARB IT Solutions (Pty) Ltd Subsidiary
Accounting and 
management systems 2 –

The Burke Investment Trust Shareholder Investment trust 215 82
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31. RELATED pARTy TRANSAcTIONS (continued)
 Key management personnel
  Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 

the activities of the company, directly and indirectly, and include directors of the subsidiaries, divisional directors, branch 
managers and department managers.

  Information regarding the earnings of directors, executive and non-executive, have been disclosed separately in note 22.

Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
Short-term employee benefits 12 206 9 205 – –
Contributions to retirement funds 935 675 – –
Other employment benefits 1 508 1 324 – –

14 649 11 204 – –

 Short-term employment benefits comprise salaries, commission and bonuses paid.

  Other employment benefits comprise travel allowances, fringe benefits on the use of company’s vehicles and 
contributions to medical aid funds.

32. FINANcIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
  The group’s operations expose it to a number of financial risks, namely interest rate, credit, foreign exchange and liquidity 

risk. The group has financial risk management processes in place to protect against and minimise the potential adverse 
effects of these financial risks. This note presents information regarding the exposure to each of these risks and 
processes for managing them.

 Credit risk
  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations, and arises principally from the group’s gross trade receivables and cash resources held at banking 
institutions.

  The group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties and it is the group’s policy that all customers who wish 
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, trade receivable balances are monitored 
on an ongoing basis with the result that the group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The group also believes that 
it has no significant exposure to credit risk due to the large number of customers comprising the company’s customer 
base and their dispersion across different industries and geographical areas. The maximum exposure is the carrying 
amount as disclosed in note 11.

  With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the group, the group’s exposure to credit risk arises 
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

  To limit this exposure, the group’s cash is placed only with reputable financial institutions of high credit standing and 
limits its exposure to only one counterparty.

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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32. FINANcIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
 Liquidity risk
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

  The group ensures, as far as possible, that it has sufficient liquidity available to meet its liabilities as and when they 
fall due. Daily and monthly cash flow requirements are monitored to ensure sufficient cash is available on demand or 
that access to facilities is available to meet expected operational expenses. Any surplus cash is appropriately invested. 
The group maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdraft facilities 
and inter-company funding.

  The company has access to unutilised mortgage bond finance with Investec Bank Limited to the value of R28 020 000.

  In addition, a subsidiary company has an unutilised Nedlend facility of R120 000 000 available to finance any working 
capital requirements.

  In terms of the company’s Articles of Association, there is no limit on the group’s authority to raise interest-bearing debt.

 Interest rate risk
  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the interest rate will affect the group’s income or value of its financial 

instruments, namely its cash resources and interest-bearing borrowings.

  The group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relate primarily to the group’s borrowing obligations, 
with a variable interest rate, on its purchase of capital assets financed through instalment sale agreements. As part of the 
process of managing the group’s interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of new borrowings and the refinancing of 
existing borrowings are positioned according to expected movement in the interest rate. Full details of interest rates 
relating to borrowings are detailed in notes 12, 15 and 19.

  Surplus cash flows exposed to interest rate risk are placed with institutions and facilities which yield the highest rate of 
return, serving as a natural hedge. The company also manages this risk by ensuring the trade payables days exceed the 
trade receivable days, thereby maintaining a positive balance in the bank.

  The group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in the market rates.

Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
Increase of 100 basis points would result in a 
reduction of profit before tax of (79) (500) (79) (245)
Decrease of 200 basis points would result in an 
improvement of profit before tax of 159 1 000 159 489

 Foreign exchange risk
  The group hedges its exposure to foreign currency risk against stronger currencies by entering into forward exchange 

contracts. Such exposure arises from purchases in currencies other than in South African Rands. It is the group’s policy to 
make use of forward exchange contracts to eliminate the currency exposure on any individual transaction for which the 
payment is anticipated to be more than one month after the group has entered into a firm commitment for a purchase. 
The forward exchange contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item.

  Forward exchange contracts which relate to future commitments:

  Amount in foreign currency purchased Forward exchange rate Maturity date
USD 154 765,50 1 USD = R8,0839 15 August 2008

  The group reviews its foreign exchange exposure, including commitments, on an ongoing basis. The group expects its 
foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure.
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32. FINANcIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
 Fair value of financial instruments
  The group’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash resources, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables 

and interest bearing borrowings. Due to the relatively short term nature of these instruments, their carrying value 
approximates their fair value and there is therefore no difference between their fair value and carrying value.

 Financial liabilities
 Maturity analysis
  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
Payable in 1 to 6 months
Interest-bearing borrowings 2 507 2 226 2 507 2 226
Trade and other payables 247 936 127 923 218 30
Provisions 2 390 2 289 – –

252 833 132 438 2 725 2 256
Interest-bearing borrowings
Payable in 7 to 12 months 1 981 2 255 1 981 2 255
Payable in 1 to 2 years 2 787 3 649 2 787 3 649
Payable in 2 to 5 years 1 950 2 886 1 950 2 886

259 551 141 228 9 443 11 046

  The maturity profile of interest-bearing borrowings consists of actual payments due in respect of instalment sale 
agreements.

 Capital management
  The group considers share capital and interest-bearing borrowings as capital.

  The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that 
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return 
to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

  The group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The group changes the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In 
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

  There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year. The group is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements.

  The group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt (as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents.

 Capital comprises all components of equity.

Notes to the annual financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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32. FINANcIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
 The debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 30 June 2008 was as follows:

Group Company
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
2008

R’000
2007

R’000
Total debt 278 240 270 066 22 361 71 637
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (112 589) (23) (85 000) –
Net debt 165 651 270 043 (62 639) 71 637
Total equity 473 751 218 994 255 827 116 122
Debt to adjusted capital ratio 0,35:1 1,23:1 (0,24):1 0,62:1

  The decrease in the debt-to-capital ratio during 2008 resulted primarily from the increase in equity and cash resources 
attributable to the listing of ARB on the Main Board of the JSE during 2008.

33. cOMpARATIvE FIGuRES
  The comparative figures to the group income statement and statement of changes in equity have been restated to effect 

the revaluation surplus on the property, plant and equipment directly to equity and not through the income statement.  
This has not had any effect on the financial position of the group at 30 June 2007.

 The effect of the group income statement for the year ended 30 June 2007 is as follows:

R’000
Net profit after tax as previously reported 127 630
Less revaluation surplus net of taxation (17 410)
Net profit as currently stated 110 220
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Analysis of shareholders
 

Number of 
shareholders %

Number 
of shares

’000 %
SHAREHOLDERS’ SpREAD
1 – 1 000 shares 148 17,0  99 –
1 001 – 10 000 shares 432 49,8  1 516  0,7 
10 001 – 100 000 shares 201 23,2  6 994  3,0 
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 58 6,7  20 703  8,8 
1 000 001 shares and over 29 3,3  205 688  87,5 

868  100,0  235 000  100,0 

DISTRIBuTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Individuals 695 80,1  89 905  38,2 
Nominees and trusts 82 9,4  111 590  47,5 
Mutual funds 24 2,8  7 421  3,2 
Private companies and CC’s 35 4,0  5 533  2,4 
Institutions 16 1,8  15 206  6,5 
Pension and provident funds 11 1,3  4 524  1,9 
Other corporations 5 0,6  821  0,3 

868 100,0  235 000  100,0 

puBLIc/NON-puBLIc SHAREHOLDERS
Public 846 97,5  74 053  31,5 
Non-public
Directors of holding company 9 1,0  135 902  57,8 
Directors of subsidiary companies 2 0,2  24 308  10,4 
Associates 11 1,3  737  0,3 

868 100,0  235 000  100,0 

DIREcT OR INDIREcT BENEFIcIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
HOLDING MORE THAN 5% OR MORE
AR Burke  111 293  47,4 
C Robertson  16 448  7,0 
C Cockerell  12 154  5,2 
B Sloley  12 154  5,2 

 152 049  64,8 
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Shareholders’ diary
 

Dividend timetable
 

The salient dates for the dividends were as follows:
Last day to trade shares cum dividend Friday, 12 September 2008
Shares commence trading ex dividend Monday, 15 September 2008
Record date Friday, 19 September 2008
Payment date Monday, 22 September 2008

Share certificates may not have been dematerialised or rematerialised between Monday, 15 September 2008 and Friday,  
19 September 2008, both days inclusive.

Financial year-end 30 June
Annual general meeting 29 October 2008
Announcement of interim results February
Announcement of annual results August
Annual report posted September 2008
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Notice of annual general meeting
For the year ended 30 June 2008

ARB HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Registration number 1986/002975/06)

Share Code: ARH

ISIN: ZAE000109435

(“ARB” or “the company”)

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of ARB will be held at Riverside Hotel, 10 Northway Drive, Durban North 

on Wednesday, 29 October 2008 at 10:00 for the purposes of:

1.  considering and adopting the annual financial statements of the company for the year ended 30 June 2008;

2.  re-electing directors;

3.  appointing of auditors;

4.  considering and, if deemed fit, adopting, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions set out below; 

and

5.  transacting any other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

SpEcIAL RESOLuTIONS

Special resolution 1: general authority to repurchase company shares

“RESOLVED THAT the company and/or its subsidiaries be and is hereby authorised, by way of general authority, to acquire 

ordinary shares issued by the company, in terms of Sections 85(2), 85(3) and 89 of the Companies Act and in terms of the 

Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”), being that:

•	 	any	such	acquisition	of	ordinary	shares	shall	be	implemented	on	the	open	market	of	the	JSE;

•	 	this	general	authority	shall	only	be	valid	until	the	company’s	next	Annual	General	Meeting,	provided	that	it	shall	not	extend	

beyond 15 months from the date of the passing of this special resolution;

•	 	an	announcement	will	be	published	on	SENS	as	soon	as	the	company	has	acquired	ordinary	shares	constituting,	on	a	

cumulative basis, 3% of the number of ordinary shares in issue prior to the acquisition, pursuant to which the aforesaid 3% 

threshold is reached, containing full details of such repurchases;

•	 	acquisitions	in	the	aggregate	in	any	one	financial	year	may	not	exceed	10%	of	the	company’s	ordinary	issued	share	capital	

nor may acquisitions in the aggregate, from the date of passing of this special resolution, exceed 10% of the company’s 

ordinary issued share capital at the date of passing of this special resolution;

•	 	in	determining	the	price	at	which	ordinary	shares	issued	by	the	company	are	acquired	by	it	in	terms	of	this	general	

authority, the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% of the volume weighted 

average price at which such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE, as determined over the five trading days immediately 

preceding the date of repurchase of such ordinary shares by the company;

•	 	at	any	point	in	time,	the	company	will	only	appoint	one	agent	to	effect	any	repurchase(s)	on	the	company’s	behalf;

•	 	the	company	may	only	undertake	a	repurchase	of	securities	if,	after	such	repurchase,	it	still	complies	with	minimum	

shareholder spread requirements in accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE; and

•	 	the	company	or	its	subsidiaries	will	not	repurchase	securities	during	a	prohibited	period	in	accordance	with	the	Listings	

Requirements of the JSE.”

Reason and effect of special resolution number 1

The reason for the special resolution number 1 is to grant the company a general authority in terms of the Companies Act for 

the acquisition by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, of shares issued by the company, or its holding company, which 

authority shall be valid until the earlier of the next Annual General Meeting of the company or the variation or revocation of such 
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general authority by special resolution by any subsequent general meeting of the company, provided that the general authority 

shall not extend beyond fifteen (15) months from the date of this Annual General Meeting. The passing and registration of this 

special resolution will have the effect of authorising the company or any of its subsidiaries to acquire shares issued by the 

company or its holding company.

The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice forms part, 

is provided in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements for purposes of this general authority:

•	 directors	and	management	–	see	pages	4	and	5	of	the	annual	report;

•	 major	beneficial	shareholders	–	see	page	60	of	the	annual	report;

•	 directors’	interests	in	ordinary	shares	–see	page	24	of	the	annual	report;	and

•	 share	capital	of	the	company	–	see	page	22	of	the	annual	report.

LITIGATION STATEMENT

The directors, whose names appear on pages 4 and 5 of the annual report of which this notice forms part, are not aware of any 

legal or arbitration proceedings, including proceedings that are pending or threatened, that may have or have had in the recent 

past, being at least the previous twelve (12) months, a material effect of the financial position of the company or its subsidiaries.

DIREcTORS’ RESpONSIBILITy STATEMENT

The directors, whose names appear on pages 4 and 5 of the annual report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility 

for the accuracy of the information pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 

there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading and that all reasonable enquiries 

to ascertain such facts have been made and that the special resolution contains all necessary information.

MATERIAL cHANGES

Other than the facts and developments reported on in this annual report, there have been no material changes in the affairs 

or financial position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of 

this notice.

STATEMENT By THE BOARD OF DIREcTORS OF THE cOMpANy

Pursuant to, and in terms of, the JSE Listings Requirements, the board of directors of the company hereby state that:

(a)  the intention of the directors of the company is to utilise the general authority to repurchase shares in the capital of the 

company if, at some future date, the cash resources of the company are in excess of its requirements or there are other 

good reasons for doing so. In this regard, the directors will take account of, inter alia, an appropriate capitalisation structure 

for the company, the long-term cash needs of the company, and the interests of the company; and

(b)  in determining the method by which the company intends to repurchase its securities, the maximum number of securities 

to be repurchased and the date on which such repurchase will take place, the directors of the company will ensure that:

	 •	 	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	will,	after	the	repurchase,	be	able	to	pay	their	debts	as	they	become	due	in	the	

ordinary course of business for the next twelve (12) months after the date of notice of this Annual General Meeting;

	 •	 	the	consolidated	assets	of	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	fairly	valued	and	recognised	and	measured	in	accordance	

with the accounting policies used in the latest audited financial statements, will, after the repurchase, be in excess of 

the consolidated liabilities of the company and its subsidiaries for the next twelve (12) months after the date of this 

notice of the Annual General Meeting;



Page 64 I  ARB Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008

Notice of annual general meeting
For the year ended 30 June 2008

	 •	 	the	issued	share capital and reserves of the company and its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be adequate for 

the ordinary business purposes of the company and its subsidiaries for the next twelve (12) months after the date 

of notice of this Annual General Meeting; and

	 •	 	the	working	capital	available	to	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	will,	after	the	repurchase,	be	sufficient	for	the	

ordinary business requirements of the company and its subsidiaries for the next twelve (12) months after the date 

of this notice of Annual General Meeting.

ORDINARy RESOLuTIONS

Ordinary resolution 1: adoption of annual financial statements

“Resolved that the annual financial statements of the company for the year ended 30 June 2008 be and are hereby received 

and adopted.”

Ordinary resolution 2: issue of shares for cash

“Resolved that the directors be authorised pursuant inter alia to the company’s Articles of Association, until this authority lapses 

at the next Annual General Meeting of the company, unless it is then renewed at the next Annual General Meeting of the 

company provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 months, to allot and issue any ordinary shares for cash subject to the 

Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) on the following bases:

(a)  the allotment and issue of the shares must be made to persons qualifying as public shareholders as defined in the Listings 

Requirements of the JSE;

(b)  the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, 

must be limited to such shares or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

(c)  the number of shares issued for cash shall not in the aggregate in any one financial year exceed 15% (fifteen percent) of 

the company’s issued share capital of ordinary shares. The number of ordinary shares which may be issued shall be based 

on the number of ordinary shares in issue at the date of such application less any ordinary shares issued during the current 

financial year, provided that any ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to a rights issue (announced, irrevocable and fully 

underwritten) or acquisition (concluded up to the date of application including announcement of the final terms) may be 

included as though they were shares in issue at the date of application;

(d)  the maximum discount at which ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price 

on the JSE of those shares over the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed 

by the directors of the company; and

(e)  after the company has issued shares for cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% 

(five percent) or more of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish an announcement 

containing full details of the issue (including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the weighted average 

traded price of the shares over the 30 days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed to by the 

directors and the effect of the issue on net asset value and earnings per share), or any other announcements that may 

be required in such regard in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE which may be applicable from time to time.

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or 

represented by proxy at the Annual General Meeting must be cast in favour of ordinary resolution number 2 for it to be approved.

Ordinary resolution 3: unissued ordinary shares

“Resolved that all the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the company, be and are hereby placed at the 

disposal and under the control of the directors, and that the directors be and are hereby authorised to allot, issue and otherwise 
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to dispose of all or any of such shares at their discretion, in terms of and subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1973 

(Act No. 61 of 1973), as amended and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited and subject to the proviso that the 

aggregate number of ordinary shares which may be allotted and issued in terms of this ordinary resolution number 2, shall be 

limited to 15% (fifteen percent) of the number of ordinary shares in issue from time to time.”

A majority of the votes cast by all shareholders present, or represented by proxy at the Annual General Meeting, will be required 

to approve this resolution.

Ordinary resolution 4: re-election of director

“Resolved that AR Burke be re-elected as a director of the company.”

A brief curriculum vitae in respect of AR Burke is set out on page 4 of the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary resolution 5: re-election of director

“Resolved that JR Modise be re-elected as a director of the company.”

A brief curriculum vitae in respect of JR Modise is set out on page 5 of the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary resolution 6: re-election of director

“Resolved that DF Muhlwa be re-elected as a director of the company.”

A brief curriculum vitae in respect of DF Muhlwa is set out on page 5 of the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary resolution 7: Confirmation of non-executive directors’ remuneration for the year

“Resolved that the remuneration of non-executive directors for the year as set out on page 50 of the annual report of which this 

notice forms part, be and is confirmed”.

Ordinary resolution 8: future directors’ remuneration

“Resolved that the non-executive directors be paid the following fixed fee amount with effect 1 July 2008:

Chairman of the board – R1,2 million per annum

Non-executive director – R7 500 per meeting

Audit and Risk Committee Chairman – R12 500 per meeting

Audit and Risk Committee member – R7 500 per meeting

Remuneration and Nominations Committee Chairman – R12 500 per meeting

Remuneration and Nominations Committee member – R7 500 per meeting”

Ordinary resolution 9: appointment of auditors

“Resolved that the directors be and are hereby authorised to appoint the auditors, PKF Durban, for the ensuing financial year 

and are authorised to fix the remuneration of the auditors.”

Ordinary resolution 10: signature of documentation

“Resolved that a director of the company or the company secretary be and is authorised to sign all such documentation and do 

all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of ordinary resolutions numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 

and 9 and special resolution number 1 which are passed by the shareholders.”
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vOTING AND pROXIES
A shareholder of the company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more 

proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the company) to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead. On a show of hands, 

every shareholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll, every 

shareholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every share held in the company 

by such shareholder.

Dematerialised shareholders who have elected own-name registration in the sub-register through a Central Securities 

Depository Participant (CSDP) and who are unable to attend but wish to vote at the Annual General Meeting, should complete 

and return the attached form of proxy and lodge it with the transfer secretaries of the company.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker rather than through own-name registration and 

who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting must instruct their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authority to 

attend. If such shareholders are unable to attend, but wish to vote at the Annual General Meeting, they should timeously provide 

their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into between that shareholder and 

his/her CSDP or broker.

Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the company’s registered office. The completed forms of proxy must 

be deposited at, posted or faxed to the transfer secretaries at the address below, to be received at least 48 hours prior to the 

meeting. Any member who completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person 

at the general meeting should the member subsequently decide to do so.

By order of the board.

William Neasham CA(SA)

Company Secretary

25 August 2008

Registered office

10 Mack Road

Prospecton

Durban, 4110

(PO Box 26426, Isipingo Beach, 4115)

Telephone: +27 31 910 0200

Transfer secretaries

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd

70 Marshall Street

Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

Telephone: +27 11 370 5000
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Form of proxy
 

ARB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Registration number 1986/002975/06)
Share Code: ARH
ISIN: ZAE000109435
(“ARB” or “the company”)

For use at the Annual General Meeting of the company to be held at Riverside Hotel, 10 Northway Drive, Durban North on 
Wednesday, 29 October 2008 at 10:00 and at any adjournment thereof.

For use by the holders of the company’s certificated ordinary shares (“certified shareholder”) and/or dematerialised ordinary 
shares held through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker who have selected own-name registration 
(“own-name dematerialised shareholders”). Additional forms of proxy are available from the transfer secretaries of the company.

Not for the use by holders of the company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who are not own-name dematerialised shareholders. 
Such shareholders must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting 
and request that they be issued with the necessary authorisation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their 
voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in order for the CSDP or broker to vote thereat 
in accordance with their instructions.

I/We (Full name in block letters) 

of (Address)

being a member/members of ARB and holding ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint

1. of or failing him/her

2. of or failing him/her

3. the chairman of the Annual General Meeting,

  as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting which will be held for the purpose 
of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed 
thereat and at any adjournment thereof; and to vote for and/or against the special and ordinary resolutions and/or abstain 
from voting in respect of the ARB ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in accordance with the following 
instructions:

Number of votes
For* Against* Abstain*

Special resolution
1. To give directors general authority to repurchase company shares
Ordinary resolutions
1. To adopt the 2008 annual financial statements
2. To issue unissued shares for cash
3. To place unissued shares under directors’ control
4. To re-elect AR Burke as a director of the company
5. To re-elect JR Modise as a director of the company
6. To re-elect DF Muhlwa as a director of the company
7. To confirm the remuneration of non-executive directors
8. To approve non-executive directors’ future remuneration
9. To authorise directors to appoint auditors and to fix their remuneration
10. To authorise the directors or the company secretary to sign documentation

*Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces above how you wish your votes to be cast.

Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

Signed at (place) on (date) 2008

Member’s signature  Assisted by (if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side.
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Notes to the form of proxy
 

1. This form proxy is to be completed only by those members who are:
 a. holding shares in a certificated form; or
 b. recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own name”.

2.  Members who have dematerialised their shares, other than “own-name” dematerialised shareholders, and who wish to 
attend the Annual General Meeting must contact their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker who will 
furnish them with the necessary authority to attend the Annual General Meeting, or they must instruct their CSDP or broker 
as to how they wish to vote in this regard. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the members 
and their CSDP or broker.

3.  Each member is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a member(s) of the company) to attend, speak 
and, on a poll, vote in place of that member at the Annual General Meeting.

4.  A member may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the member’s choice in the space 
provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the Annual General Meeting”. The person whose name stands first on 
the form of proxy and who is present at the Annual General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those 
whose names follow.

5.  A member’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by that 
member in the appropriate box(es) provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the chairman of 
the Annual General Meeting, if the chairman is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the ordinary resolutions at the 
Annual General Meeting, or any other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the Annual General Meeting as he/she 
deems fit, in respect of all the member’s votes exercisable thereat.

6.  A member or his/her proxy is not obliged to vote in respect of all the ordinary shares held by such member or represented 
by such proxy, but the total number of votes for or against the ordinary resolutions and in respect of which any abstention is 
recorded may not exceed the total number of votes to which the member or his/her proxy is entitled.

7.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be 
attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer office or waived by the chairman of the 
Annual General Meeting.

8.  The chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received 
other than in accordance with these instructions, provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a member wishes 
to vote.

9.  Any alterations or corrections to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory(ies).

10.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant member from attending the Annual General 
Meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such 
member wish to do so.

11.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are 
produced or have been registered by the company’s transfer secretaries.

12.  Where there are joint holders of any shares, only that holder whose name appears first in the register in respect of such 
shares need sign this form of proxy.

13.  Forms of proxy must be lodged with the transfer secretaries at the address given below at least 48 hours prior to the 
meeting:

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107
Telephone: +27 11 370 5000
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Corporate information
 

Company registration number
1986/002975/06

Registered office
10 Mack Road
Prospecton
Durban, 4110
(PO Box 26426, Isipingo Beach, 4115)
Telephone: +27 31 910 0200

Company Secretary
William Neasham CA(SA)
10 Mack Road
Prospecton
Durban, 4110
(PO Box 26426, Isipingo Beach, 4115)
Telephone: +27 31 910 0213

Reporting accountants and auditors
PKF Durban
2nd Floor, 12 on Palm Boulevard
Gateway
Umhlanga Rocks, 4319
(PO Box 1858, Durban, 4000)
Telephone: +27 31 573 5000

Commercial bankers
Nedbank Ltd
90 Ordinance Road
Kingsmead
Durban, 4001
(PO Box 3560, Durban, 4000)
Telephone: +27 31 364 1111

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)
Telephone: +27 11 370 5000

Sponsor
Bridge Capital Advisors (Pty) Ltd
2nd Floor, 27 Fricker Road
Illovo Boulevard
Illovo, 2196
(PO Box 651010, Benmore, 2010)
Telephone: +27 11 268 6231

Attorneys
Garlicke & Bousfield Inc.
7 Torsvale Crescent
La Lucia Ridge Office Estate
Umhlanga Rocks, 4319
(PO Box 1219, Umhlanga Rocks, 4320)
Telephone: +27 31 570 5479

Maxx Corporate Communications  Editorial by 

“ARB” or “the company” ARB Holdings Limited

“ARB Global”  ARB Global (Proprietary) Limited, a subsidiary of ARB Holdings 

Limited established post year-end to focus on export into Africa

“BBBEE” Broad-based black economic empowerment

“the board” The board of directors of ARB Holdings Limited

“CEO”  Chief Executive Officer

“the current year” The year ending 30 June 2009

“IFRS”  International Financial Reporting Standards

“JSE”  JSE Limited

“King II Report” King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002

“the previous year” The year ended 30 June 2007

“SENS” Stock Exchange News Service

“the year” or “the year under review” The year ended 30 June 2008

Definitions
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